James River Water Authority
Board of Directors Meeting
Fluvanna County Administration Building- Morris Room
132 Main Street
Palmyra, VA 22963
March 13, 2024
9:00 A.M.

Regular Meeting of the James River Water Authority Board of Directors

VI.

VII.

VIII.

IX.

Call to Order

Adoption of Agenda

Approval of Minutes of Preceding Meeting
a. February 14, 2024 - Regular Meeting

Financial Report
a. Bill Approval
i. AquaLaw
ii. GAI Consultants
iii. Faulconer Construction
iv. R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates
v. US Bank

Public Information and Discussion
a. Discussion — Project Status Update

Action Items
a. Resolution — Providing for the Issuance and Sale of Revenue Bond, Series 2024, of
the James River Water Authority and Providing for the Form, Details and Payment
Thereof
b. Action — FY25 Draft Budget
c. Action — To Approve Remote Participation

Consent Agenda
Closed Meeting

Adjournment

The James River Water Authority Board of Directors reserves the right to amend and/or change
the Agenda the day of the meeting.

BY ORDER OF:
D.D. WATSON, CHAIRMAN
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY



JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FLUVANNA COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING
PALMYRA, VIRGINIA
February 14, 2024
9:00 A.M.

Present: D. D. Watson (Chairman), Eric Anderson (Vice Chairman), Patricia Eager, Eric Dahl
(Treasurer)

Absent: Christian Goodwin, Eric Purcell

CALL TO ORDER

Chairman Watson called the meeting of the James River Water Authority (JRWA) Board of
Directors to order at 9:00 a.m. and led the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.

ADOPTION OF AGENDA

On the motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Dahl, the agenda was adopted on a vote of
4-0.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF PRECEDING MEETING

On the motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Dahl, which carried by a vote of 4-0, the
Board approved the meeting minutes of January 10, 2024.

EINANCIAL REPORT

Mr. Dahl reviewed the bills put forward for consideration and briefed the Board on the current
bank balance. Mr. Dahl noted that the amount of the bills are $1,243,595.90 and the bank balance
is at $518,253.22, and they will need to request funds from outstanding debt proceeds to cover the
bills. On the motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mrs. Eager, the bills were approved by a vote
of 4-0.

PUBLIC INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION

Discussion — Project Status Update

Joe Modica provided the following updates:
e MOA was submitted on January 26, 2024, and the revised Phase I11 plan was submitted
February 13, 2024.
e Property acquisitions are ongoing with 9 out of 17 properties deeded.
e VDH permits are expected by March 2024.
e Non-permitted pipeline construction is anticipated to begin April 2024.

Bryan Reickmann provided the following update:

1



e Trees along the pipeline route will begin to be felled February 26, 2024 in order to meet the
April 1, 2024 deadline. Once the plans are approved, with trees are on the ground, non-
pipeline construction can begin right away.

Eric Dahl provided the following update:
e In order to obtain VRA funding and what will be an anticipated loan condition, we will
need to have the Army Corp. of Engineers permit in hand as off April 15, 2024.

Justin Curtis provided the following update:
e Itisunlikely to receive a conditional permit
e Prepared documents are scheduled to go out Friday, February 16, 2024. The review period
will end mid-March, and potential decision made by mid-April to early May.

ACTIONITEM
(none)

CONSENT AGENDA
(none)

CLOSED SESSION

On the motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mrs. Eager, which carried by a vote of 4-0, the
Board voted to enter Closed Session at 9:36 a.m. for the purpose of discussing the following:

2.2-3711(A)(3) Discussion of the acquisition of real property, specifically the pump station parcel
on the Rose property where the discussion in open session will adversely affect the bargaining
position or the negotiating strategy of the Authority.

RESUMPTION OF REGUL AR SESSION

By consensus, the Authority certified by roll call vote that only the matter identified in the motion
to convene in closed session can lawfully be permitted to be discussed under the Freedom of
Information Act was heard discussed or considered.

On the motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mrs. Eager, and carried by a vote of 4-0, to approve
the purchase and sale agreement for the Rose property in the amount of $510,000.00 along with a
supplemental agreement for $1,007.23 in a form approved by legal counsel and authorize the
chairman to sign necessary documents.

ADJOURNMENT

On the motion of Mr. Dahl, seconded by Mr. Anderson, which carried by a vote of 4-0, the
Board voted to adjourn the meeting at 10:00 a.m.

BY ORDER OF:



D.D. WATSON, CHAIRMAN
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY



UALAW

JUSTIN W. CURTIS PH: 804.716.9021
JUSTIN@ AQUALAW.COM Fx: 804.716.9022

February 14, 2024

RECE] E D |

Mr. Eric Dahl FEB 212 '
Administrator Fluvanna County
Fluvanna County Administration
P.O. Box 540

Palmyra, VA 22963

Re: James River Water Authority
Dear FEric:
Enclosed is our invoice for services rendered during January.

We greatly appreciate the opportunity to work with you. Please let me know if
you have any guestions.

Very truly yours,

=

Justin W. Curtis

Enclosure

cc: Brendan Hefty, Esq.

Aqualaw PLC - 6 South 5h Street - Richmond, Virginia - 23219
www. Aqualaw.com






February 13, 2024

James River Water Authority
P.O. Box 540
Palmyra, VA 22963

Attention:  Eric Dahl Our File #:  0293-001
RE: General Inv #: 16000
DATE WORK PERFORMED HOURS AMOUNT LAWYER
Jan-03-24 Correspond with Corps project manager re permit application 0.20 83.00 JwC

status; review and comment on draft meeting minutes for
December Board meeting

Jan-08-24 Coordinate preparation for meeting with DEQ and monitor the 0.80 332.00 Jwc
same; participate in meeting debrief with the team

Jan-10-24 Prepare project status update and present same at Board 1.20 498.00 JWC
meeting; participate in virtual meeting with DEQ and DCR staff
re mussel surveys and time-of-year restrictions

Jan-15-24 Correspond with the team to coordinate response to email 0.70 290.50 JwC
from Corps re consulting party meeting; teleconference with E.
Tidlow re preparation for the same; send response to Corps
project manager

Jan-16-24 Virtual meeting with the team re project status; prepare 520 2,158.00 Jwc
meeting presentation materials and talking points for
consulting party meeting; circulate same to the team with
instructions for upcoming meeting

Jan-17-24 Virtual meeting with team and Corps project manager re 2.70 1,120.50 JwC
preparation for consulting party meeting; debrief meeting
with the project team; teleconference with B. Rieckmann re
construction schedule; revise presentation for consulting
party meeting based on feedback from the Corps project
manager and comments from the team; send follow up
clarifying questions to Corps project manager

Jan-18-24 Final preparation for and attend virtual meeting with the 8.00 3,320.00 JWC
Corps project manager and consulting parties; follow up
meeting with Corps project manager re next actions items and
next steps; prepare and circulate detail summary of consulting
party meeting and action items re the same; coordinate with C.
Goodwin, E. Dahl, and E. Tidlow re revisions to the Treatment
Plan; prepare revised version of Section 106 Memorandum of
Agreement in response to feedback from consulting parties



Jan-19-24

Jan-22-24

Jan-23-24

Jan-24-24

Jan-25-24

Jan-30-24

Jan-31-24

Invoice #:16000

and the Corps; send follow up information requests to M.
Miller and Corps project manager

Update draft Section 106 Memorandum of Agreement to
incorporate feedback from the team

Draft responses to Corps project manager requests to follow
up on consulting party meeting; review and comment on draft
responses from the team for the same; various
correspondence with the team and Corps project manager to_
coordinate responses; virtual meeting with the team re
pending actions to provide to Corps

Virtual meeting with the team to review status of consultation

responses; coordinate with various team members throughout

the day to supplement and address comments on the draft
response package; revise the Section 106 Memorandum of
Agreement to address comments; virtual meeting with
cultural resources consultants to review revised project layout
maps for the revised treatment plan

Finalize and send draft responses to consulting parties and
status update to Corps project manager

Virtual meeting with team and Corps project manager to
review draft responses to consulting party comments ;
teleconference with Corps project manager re discussions
with the National Park Service; revise responses to consulting

parties and proposed Section 106 Memorandum of Agreement

to address feedback from the Corps; create annotated redline
version of the same to facilitate review by consulting parties;
finalize the response package and send the same to the Corps
project manager

Virtual meeting with the team to review status of project and
consultation responses

Send information to E. Tidlow for treatment plan revisions

Subtotal

TOTAL AMOUNT THIS PERIOD

Previous Balance

Previous Payments

BALANCE DUE NOW

Page 2

0.50 207.50

8.00 3,320.00

4.40 1,826.00

2.10 871.50

5.10 2,116.50

0.50 207.50

0.20 83.00

39.60 $16,434.00

$16,434.00

$7,304.00
$4,606.50

$19,131.50

Payment Remit Address: AquaLaw PLC, 6 South 5th Street, Richmond, Virginia 23219

Thank you for choosing AQUALAW PLC. (Tax ID No. 45-0484029)
Please call (804) 716-9021 ext. 224 with invoice questions.

Payment is appreciated within 30 days.

JWC

JWC

JWC

JWC

JWC

JWC

JWC



James River Water Authority
Summary of Work Pay Application 5 - February 2024
2/29/24

Faulconer Construction

Construction

1. Felled trees within LOD
2. Flagged clearing limits

Timmons Group

Final Design

1. Developed and advanced final plan sets A, B, C, and D to completion
2. Plan Sets submitted to review agencies on the following dates:
a. Plan Set A — Raw Water Intake
i. Received comments from VDH 2/5/24
ii. 100% plan development — 2/12/24
b. Plan Set B — Raw Water Pump Station
I. Received comments from VDH 2/5/24
ii. 100% plan development — 2/12/24
c. Plan Set C - Site Plan
i. Received V-DOT approval for entrance
ii. 100% design resubmission — 2/23/24
d. Plan Set D — Raw Water Main
i. Received VDH Approval
ii. 100% design resubmission 2/15/24
3. Respond to comments from reviewing agencies
4. Develop and assist with USACE permits

FAULCONER .
TIMMONS GROUP

CONSBTRUCTION COMPANT




0BAUOD SIY} J8pun I010BNUOYD 10 JeumQ 8yl Jo sybu Aue 01 aoipnleld
noupm sre JustwAed Jo soueidsooe pue uswAed ‘BOUENSS| "UIBISY PBWEU IQIORNUOTD
ay) o1 Ajuo ejqeded st 931411830 INNOWY YL "sjqenobau jou si sjeofiien syl

[ /.

veoz/Lzie O

("penRiad JUNOWE Sy Lim WLoju0s 0f paburyd ai
Uy Lo pue LONROKAAY $1y) L0 $oNBY [jo Jelu) pos

0000V 0L LS amgiuas tnnowy

2:::_::5\\ ‘Q3141L830 LNNOWY o3 jo JuswAed o3 psjnue s|

///// 09& >m—x& \\\\\Eombcoo 8U} puUE ‘SjUSWIN00Q 10BNULY SUY1 Y)iM 8DUBPIODDR Ul SI 3OAA 8L Jo Aljenb sy
/////O/\/Aﬁomso \\\\ ‘pojeolpul se passaiboid sey dpojy 8yl J819q PUB ‘UOHEWIOMUI ‘DBpaMOuY S,10011Yany
N .....b/ Y0 ....mE\uw.u 188Q 8yj 0] jey} Jsump 2y} O} SaiIle0 Joa)iyoly eyl ‘uoneoydde saoqe ayy Buisudwoo
TS (zoz/etizo s eyim ey pue SUOIIBAISSQO 1I$-UD UO PISB( 'SJUSUIND0(] I9BIIL0D) 4] LM 20URPIOOOE U|
iS3UIdXT WNOD AW = LNINAYd YO FLVOIHILLYAD S.L031LIHOYY

T YTV
,vnw ....OZ zo_hgmawm.u /”
2745 CEASN
\\\\VQ.MwTwizoiwr... &0/// S ~ 7 _\NO 591 UQISSILULIOD AlA
Z SRR RS
\\\\\\—S\:xo A 36 21Gng AJ2IoN
i ,VN\ YW PNANANYS Jo dep \AJ/>\N\N shyrau aubsl) ) HidwMbue paquosgng

g?ﬁé@@:( 40 Runog /0)/»?( NN o amg

\U\N\NN\N eeq .\N\\\Nl M\ Ag

1] Auedwon uoponnsue Jeuoojne HOLOVHINOD

"9Np MOU SI UjeIay
umoys JusiAed 1USLND JBY) PUB JSUMQ 8y} WOl paalooal SjJuswAed pue panssi
2JoMm JuBlAR 10 $81201IM8D SNoIASID YDIYm 10] YIOAA 0] 101081U0D Byl Ag pred

useq aAY siUnowe |[e jey] "SJUSWNO0( JI9BJUOD SYI YIM 80UERI00O. Ul pelejduwlos
usaq sey jusiAed Joj uoneoljddy siy) Ag paianod som o) ‘Ja1jag puE ‘uoneuiou
‘2Bpapmow S1010B.QU0D BU) JO 1584 BU) 0} 1Y) SBINIED J0J0RNUOD paubisiapun ay |

00°0% 19piQ ebueyn Ag sebueys 1o
00°0% _oo.om SIVLOL
O0.0@ 00°0% iuoy iy paaosdady (ejol
00°0% 00°0% JBUMQ Ag syuow snowald ul
paaoidde sefueyo ejo).
suononped suonIppy ALYIANS U30HO0 IONVYHD
00°086'9vZ'9es e abeuigiey sn|d "ysiuid of souejeg ‘6
DOODYIDLELG  reweresemienememEias ia e anQ juswhed weuny g
00°005°042'28 e SjuBWARH 10 SOIRDIIUSYD SNOIAGIY $807 "/
00°006'0bF'eg T sbeuleioy ssa psule] |glo) ‘g
007001 LQLE s e sEtiRses saes s abeuiglay |2101
00°0% [BLBIEIAl PRIOIS JO %000 g
00°001L°18L$

MIOA DRSIdWOD 1O %OUs e

:sbeueioy ¢

00°000°CZ9°eS

00'058°/89°6E%
00°0%

00°058°/89°6€%

2] Of WNS 10B1U0D '©
JeplQ obueyp Ag ebBueuneN 'z
wng joenuo)d |euibug 'y

‘PaUsENE S| 198YS LORRNUILOY
JORIUOD LY UM UOROBULIDS UL "#aj8g UMGUS S8 JUBWAEd Jo) ape S uones!|ddy

ANJWAVd 04 NOILVIITddV S.J0LOVHLNOD

:8le(] 10BU0)

:soN 108{0ld

]

1104 J9RIU0D
90£2-9062¢C YA “3lIIAsa0lEYD
90L2%08 0 d

dnouo suowwl  noepyary ea BAWOD UORONISUOD J8UGDINEY  10JaBAUCSY Wold

1 .
sopenU0n [ ¥202/62/2 ‘0L pouad . €962Z VA ‘Biwhjed
wayaIY [} > 9010 uolensiulwpy AJuNo) BUUBAN|-
&Eso D 199NS UlBy 2¢1 / 0FG Xog 'O 'd

1 0y uonnguisiq (o 17ON uonesyjddy UoNaNASUOD - YAAMI -88Y6  n9efold ALIHOHLNY YILVAN HIAIE STAYL eumg o)

S0088F6  :# 2dn0au] ININAVd HO4 FLVOIHILYTD ANV NOILLYIIddY



dey diy 7 sseio

00°000°6LL %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°GL) UIMm I9Al sewer 10 ueg 8l01sey | /7
1oAY
00°000°0¢ %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°0¢€ ol dwey umeq peoy ss200y pling |97
1 00°000°058 %0070 000 000 000 000 00°000°058 21nenags el | 67
00°000°68S %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°68S Yiom edid el | vz
00°000°GL2 %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°GLZ weq elod [jesu] @ ysiwing | €2
00°000°0L¥ %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°0Ly S|oNUoY | 22
00°000°009°C %000 000 000 000 000 00°000'009°¢ |Ed09d 112
00°000°080°) %000 000 000 000 000 000007080} [EQIUBYORIN | 07
00°000°00SL %000 000 1000 000 000 00°000°00S" | woewdinby |5
00°000°088% %000 00°0 00°0 000 000 00°000°088 sielein | gl
00°000°006'2 %000 000 00°C L 000 000 00°000°006'C [BINIONAS + 818douo) | /L
00°000°0VY Yo7 L7 LE 007000092 000 000 0070007092 00°000°00Z g3 - suopipuo] [eleus | gl
00°000°6E0'C %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°6£0°2 SHOA 8IS uones duing | ).
sjueweaoldul]
00°000°022 %00°0 000 000 000 000 00°000°022 wiojs peoy §S800Y 2lis iyl
00°000°0LL°L %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°0L1°L PEOY §S800Y 8lIS cosﬁ% duind |1
ulee|n
00°000°02 %4998 00°000°0€ ) 000 00°000°0¢ 1 000 00°000°0S 1L ®  Speoy uoponisuod  Alelodwsl |zZ)
uonelo)sey
1 00°000's8 %00°0 000 000 1000 000 00°000°58 ealy  e@Alllsusg pue  puepsp Ll
1 00°000°GLY %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°G.¥ S|0JUOD UoIsOIT O]
100700064 %000 000 000 000 000 000006/ Buljoyiod % uoposioud Annn Bunsixg |6
peoy owalg
000 %0000} 00°000°2 0070 00°000°2 000 00°000°2 SSOY  JMPO|3 DN 10y Buuesiy g
00°000°G€E %00°0 000 000 000 000 00'000°S€ umopAeT] uoners duind | 2
00000004 %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°004 BuipueH 3 obelols jeusE |9
sjuswearoldu
00°000°05¢ %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°05¢ % Buibbej4/eoueinsu)  peodpey|g
0070006y %6065 00°000°69 000 00°000°0S 00°000°G1 00°000°041 Buikering | ¢
sooInIes
1 00°000°6SL'L  %00°0Z 00°000'669'Z 1000 00°000°000°)  00°000'G69°) 00°000°058'c  Buussuibuz uoponysuoy g ubisag|g
00°000°GL0' L % Le 00°000°69Y 000 00°000°G¥ 00°000°02¥ 00°000°08Y° 1 SUclIpuoD |elsue | 7
00°000°648 %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°G.G UOBEZINIGOIA | |
(4+3+q) (3 40 @ ui0N)
ajeq oL (3+a)
(9-0) paiolg pue paioig aoe|d uj uoneoyddy
ysiuid op (019) pajejdwod Apussaiy poued siyy SNolAld Wol anfep "ON
mmmc_muww_ asuejeg % ieilcl S|eLleA Umum_QEOU HIOAA pa[npsyosg JACHA SO :Owua_\_owwﬁ_ wiay
h I ] 9 A4 3 a 2 g v
UOHONISUC) - VMM -8876  : JoBAUOD G00887P6 : # eo10ALY
I'oN 199foid s,303uYyoly
. ‘Aldde Aew swiey sul| 1o} aBeule)sl ajqeleA Sloym SIOBNUOD LO | uwnjoD asn
velee/eo oL “IB[|Op 1S2esU SUL 0) PSIB)S 8B SJUNOWE 'Mojaq suonRe|nge) uj
ve/ezize  : jeq uoneoljddy "POUOENE S| LONBOLNISD PBUBIS $,101081U07
G : "ON uoneoyddy Buluieiuoo ‘JuswiAey Jop uopeoyien pue uonesiddy

€ Jo g ofeq

133dHS NOILVNNILNOD



00°00L°1L8L  D0'058°G20°9E %EL'6 00°000°229°c 000 1 00°000°2¢2'L  DO'000°06ET 00°058°289'6¢ s|ejol puelg

000 %000 000 00°0 000 000 000 INIITO A4 A3A0HddY S.00 801 {666
00°068'SE %000 000 00°0 000 000 00°088°GE suoposdsu| g WwewdojeAasq JdMS | L
00°000°G8L %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°68L Bunsel 0O |o¥
00°000°09% %000 00°0 000 000 000 00°000°09% uopeloisey juswases @ 23S | 68
00°000°04¢ %000 000 00°0 000 000 00°000°0.¢ [eroway g Bunse|g socy | g
00°000°096 %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°096 g uadQ -Buissol) euueary | /¢
PEOYH llIH
00°000°0kL %000 000 000 000 000 00°000°0LL 2.9 00+l e suyedid D uedo |ge
PeoY
00700004 %000 000 000 000 000 00700002 owalg Q0+4z) e auledid 1D uedg |Ge
00000041 %000 00°0 000 000 00°0 00000041 210¢ @ Yoer g einoy | v¢
peoY owalg
00°000°GS %000 000 00°0 000 000 00°000°6G lepun  eu  |eolpe|g Ny usdoigg
00°000°008 %000 000 00°0 000 000 00°000°00S 210g ¢ MO.[ [E0l109[3 R peoY |leY | 28
007000002 %00°0 000 000 000 000 00°000°002 Bunsel swuRemMm | Le
000000802 %000 000 00°0 00°0 000 00°000'080°Z seoueusuNddy sulT Je1ep | 08
00°000°008'6 %000 000 000 000 000 000000086 [UIT IBIEAM MBY .7 | 67
2lemg @ uonels
00°000°0E %000 00°0 00°0 000 00°0 00°000°0¢ dwngd usemieg ejemg Jojemaq |gz
{4+3+q) (5 10 @ uiI0N)
ajeq ol {(z3+q)
(5-0) palo)g pue paloig aoe|d U] uonesyddy
ysiuid of {19 pajejdwosn Apussalyg pouad Syl SNOIABI Wol] snjep ‘ON
wmwc_mvww_ aguejeg % jeiol | sjeLoley Uwum_QEOU JAOMA BG_JUGSUW JI0AA 10 COSQIOm&D wayj
o | H 9 _ 4 EL a 2 g v
uononysuod - VAN -88%6  : JoBAUCY S008876 : g eoloAy]

T'oN 129loid sj02uyaly
o ‘Aldde Aewl swiey sul jo) sBeule)sl ajgeEA Bleym SIOBIUOD UO | uwnjog asn
"IB||op }s2iesu 2y) 0) PRIBIS 8le Ssluncwe ‘Mofsa Ssuone|nge) uj
ve/6zico  : eyeq uoneolddy ‘payoe)e S| uojeoyRIeD paubls s10)3enu07)
] 1 'oN uonesyddy Buiuieyuoo ‘yuswiied 1oy uoneosypisy pue uopesyddy

133HS NOILVNNILNOD

€ Jo ¢ a8ey



ij

gai consultants

Eric Daht

James River Water Authority
132 Main St

PO Box 540

Palmyra, VA 22963

Project C190908.00

Professional Services Through February 10, 2024

Consultation and Document Review

Professional Personnel

EO8 ; Assistant Director
Tidlow, Evelyn

E06 ; Cultural Resources Managers

Glenn, Jonathan
Totals

Total Labor

Billing Limits
Total Billings
Limit
Remaining

Outstanding Invoices
Number
2197527
2198617
Total

INVOICE

RECEIVE

FEB 2 ¢ 2024

Fluvanna County

L_ Administration

GAI Consultants, inc.
385 East Waterfront Drive

T 412.476.2000
F 412.476.2020

Homestead, PA 15120-5005

February 19, 2024

Project No:
Invoice No:

JRWA - cultural oversight - water supply project
Planning & Coordination with Council & subconsultant

Hours

26.50

12.00
38.50

Current
6,173.50

Date Balance
1/5/2024 1,578.00
1/29/2024 256.00
1,834.00

Rate Amount
175.00 4,637.50
128.00 1,536.00

6,173.50

Total this Task
Prior To-Date
482,215.22 488,388.72
535,987.59
47,598.87

Total this Invoice

€150908.00
2199362

6,173.50
$6,173.50

$6,173.50

gaiconsultants.com



g Invoice
BILLTO INVOICE DATE INVOICE #_ TERMS
James River Water Authority 02/08/2024 24-0117 HJew30,,
edahl@ﬂuvanngcounty.org : e DATE BERIOD
. | cgoodwin@louisa.org 2
A ‘!mOdlca@n’.lbpce'com 3/8/2024 “ January 1 - 31,-2024
j.glenn(@gaiconsultants.com ;
L3 :
Description - aQry RATE AMOUNT
Phase I Archaeological Survey and Phase II i
Archaeological Evaluations for the JRWA
Project, Fluvanna County, Virginia
Contract Value: $467,007.72
'| Billed to date: $455,834.64
Paid to date: $450846.15
Balante remaining of contract value: $11,173.08
Senior Project Manager - 31 124.67 3,864.77 '
GIS 1 13 86.44 1,123.72
1
Amount Due This Invoice $4,988.49

(30.1)’694—0428 Fax (301) 695-5237

J

241 Ea‘st Fourth Street, Suite 100 - Frederick, Maryland 21701

frederick@rcgoodwin.com www.rcgoodwin.com

Fréderick, MD

\

New Orleans, LA

Tallahassee, FL ‘

Lawrence, KS



Invoice

¥

BILLTO

INVOICE DATE

INVOICE #_ TERMS

James River Water Authority
edahl@fluvannacounty.org -

. | cgoodwin@louisa.org
. |jmodica@mbpce.com
j.glenn(@gaiconsultants.com

03/05/2024

24-0205

Net 30

DUE DATE

PERIOD

4/5/2024

“February 1 - 29, 2024

Description

QTY

RATE AMOUNT ..

Phase I Archaeological Survey and Phase II
Archaeological Evaluations for the JRWA
Project, Fluvanna County, Virginia

Contract Value: $467,007.72

‘| Billed to date: $456,676.15

Paid to date: $450,846.15
Balance remaining of contract value: $10,331.56

Senior Project Manager -

6.75

124.67 841.52|

Amount Due This Invoicé

' $841.52

(30.1)’694—0428 Fax (301) 695-5237

J

241 East Fourth Street, Suite 100 - Frederick, Maryland 21701
frederick@rcgoodwin.com www.rcgoodwin.com

Fréderick, MD

\

New Orleans, LA

Tallahassee, FL ‘

Lawrence, KS



All of us serving you*
TEbank

February 15, 2024

Mr. Steve Nichols

James River Water Authority
P.O. Box 540

132 Main Street

Palmyra, VA 22963

Subject: Semi-Annual Payment Amount
VRA Pooled Financing Program, Series 2016A - James River Water Authority

Dear Mr. Nichols

Your principal and/or interest payment related to the referenced bond issue will be due on: 4/1/2024

Interest: $145,375.00
Principal: $0.00

Less Bill Credit: $12,572.92
Total Due: $132,802.08

Payments should be made payable to U.S. Bank N.A. on or before the due date, as follows:

Wire Instructions: Checks — First Class Mail Checks — Overnight Express Mail
RBK: U.S. Bank N.A. U.S. Bank Operations Center U.S. Bank Operations Center

ABA: 091000022 Attn: Trust Finance Management Lockbox Services-SDS 12-2699
BNF: SE WIRE CLRG P.O. Box 86 EP-MN-01LB

A/C #: 173103781824 Lockbox Services-SDS 12-2699 1200 Energy Park Drive

OBI: Monique Green Minneapolis, MN 55486-2699 St. Paul, MN 55108

Ref: James River Water Authority - 214245000
Please do not hesitate to call me if you have any questions or if | can be of any assistance.

Very truly yours,

)
__//MLZW}W\

Monique Green

Vice President

U.S. Bank N.A.
EX-VA-URIT

Two James Center

1021 E Cary St., Suite 1850
Richmond, VA 23219

Tel: 804-343-1566

Fax: 804-343-1572

usbank.com



RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF A
REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2024, OF THE JAMES RIVER WATER
AUTHORITY AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS AND
PAYMENT THEREOF

WHEREAS, the James River Water Authority (the “Water Authority”) is a public body
politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the
“Commonwealth”) exercising public and essential governmental functions and created by
resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of Fluvanna County, Virginia and the Board
of Supervisors of Louisa County, Virginia in accordance with the Virginia Water and Waste
Authorities Act, as amended (the “Act”) (codified at Chapter 51, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia
of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”)), for the purpose of servicing the water needs of the
County of Fluvanna, Virginia (“Fluvanna County”’) and the County of Louisa, Virginia (“Louisa
County,” and together with Fluvanna County, the “Member Jurisdictions”); and

WHEREAS, the Water Authority is authorized to contract debts and to issue, as evidence
thereof, notes, bonds or other obligations payable from revenues from a revenue-producing
undertaking of the Water Authority, and on or about May 25, 2016, the Water Authority issued its
$7,695,000 Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (the “Series 2016 Local Bond”), which was sold to the
Virginia Resources Authority (“VRA”) in connection with the issuance by the VRA of its
$136,620,000 Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation Revenue Bonds (Virginia Pooled
Financing Program), Series 2016A (the “Series 2016 VRA Bonds”), with the proceeds from the
sale of the Series 2016 Local Bond being expected to be used by the Water Authority to finance a
portion of the design and construction costs of a raw water intake, a pump station and a raw water
pipeline, as well as the acquisition of land and the rights-of-way necessary therefor (collectively,
the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, in connection with the issuance by the Water Authority of the Series 2016
Local Bond and the purchase by VRA of the Series 2016 Local Bond in connection with the
issuance by VRA of the Series 2016 VRA Bonds, (1) VRA and the Water Authority executed a
Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated as of April 1, 2016 (the “2016 Financing
Agreement”) which provides, among other things, the terms and conditions for VRA’s purchase
of the Series 2016 Local Bond; (2) the Water Authority and the Member Jurisdictions entered into
a Service Agreement dated as of April 1, 2015 (the “Service Agreement”), which provides, among
other things, for payments by each Member Jurisdiction to the Water Authority for services to be
rendered to such Member Jurisdiction by the Water Authority, and sets forth certain other
responsibilities of the Water Authority and the Member Jurisdictions; and (3) the Member
Jurisdictions, the Water Authority and VRA entered into separate Support Agreements, each dated
as of May 1, 2016 (the “Fluvanna Support Agreement” and the “Louisa Support Agreement”
respectively, and collectively, the “Support Agreements”), by the terms of which each Member
Jurisdiction undertook a non-binding obligation to appropriate from time to time moneys to the
Water Authority in connection with payments due from such Member Jurisdiction under the
Service Agreement, which appropriated moneys constitute the principal source of and security for
the payment of debt service on the Series 2016 Local Bond; and

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the Series 2016 Local Bond have been or will be fully
expended on Project costs incurred by the Water Authority since 2016, but such proceeds will



ultimately be insufficient to complete the Project, and the Water Authority now desires to finance
or refinance the remaining costs of acquisition, design, construction and equipping of the Project
through the issuance by the Water Authority of its Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (the “Series 2024
Local Bond”) as described further herein; and

WHEREAS, VRA has issued a term sheet or other preliminary confirmation (the “2024
Term Sheet”), indicating the terms and conditions under which it will purchase the Series 2024
Local Bond from the proceeds of its Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation Revenue Bonds
(Virginia Pooled Financing Program), Series 2024A or Series 2024B or Series 2024C (regardless
of whether Series 2024A or Series 2024B or Series 2024C, the “Series 2024 VRA Bonds”), in
accordance with the terms of a Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement by and between the
Water Authority and VRA, dated as of April 1, 2024 (the “2024 Financing Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, VRA has indicated that its agreement to purchase the Series 2024 Local Bond
will be conditioned upon, among other conditions, (1) VRA and the Water Authority amending
the Series 2016 Financing Agreement pursuant to an Amendment to Local Bond Sale and
Financing Agreement dated as of its dated date (the “Amendment to 2016 Financing Agreement”)
by which certain adjustments to the terms of the 2016 Financing Agreement shall be effected; (2)
each of the Member Jurisdictions, the Water Authority and VRA amending and restating the
Support Agreements (each, an “Amended Support Agreement,” and collectively, the “Amended
Support Agreements”), to include the non-binding obligation for each Member Jurisdiction to
appropriate from time to time moneys to the Water Authority in connection with the payments due
from such Member Jurisdiction under the Service Agreement, which will appropriated moneys
will constitute the principal source of and security for the payment of debt service on both the
Series 2016 Local Bond and the Series 2024 Local Bond (collectively, the “Local Bonds”); and
(3) the Member Jurisdictions and the Water Authority amending the Service Agreement by way
of an Amendment to Service Agreement dated as of its dated date (the “Amendment to Service
Agreement” and the Service Agreement, as SO amended, the “Amended Service Agreement”) by
which certain adjustments to Service Agreement shall be effected; and

WHEREAS, the Water Authority has indicated that the amount of proceeds being
requested from VRA for the completion of the Project and other costs is $42,720,650 (the
“Proceeds Requested”), plus amounts necessary to pay any capitalized interest and the costs of
issuance and one or more required reserves if the Water Authority opts to fund such reserves, or
such other amount requested by the Water Authority in writing and approved by VRA prior to the
pricing of the Series 2024 VRA Bonds, and provided such sum does not exceed the maximum
principal amount of the Series 2024 Local Bond authorized pursuant to this Resolution; and

WHEREAS, VRA has advised the Authority that VRA’s objective is to pay the Authority
as the purchase price of the Series 2024 Local Bond an amount which, in VRA’s judgment, reflects
the market value of the Series 2024 Local Bond (the “VRA Purchase Price Objective”), taking into
consideration such factors as the maximum authorized par amount of the Series 2024 Local Bond,
the Proceeds Requested, the purchase price to be received by VRA for the Series 2024 VRA Bonds,
the issuance costs of the Series 2024 VRA Bonds (consisting of the underwriters’ discount and
other costs incurred by VRA (collectively, the “VRA Costs)) and other market conditions relating
to the sale of the Series 2024 VRA Bonds; and



WHEREAS, such factors as described in the foregoing recital may result in the Water
Authority’s receiving an amount other than the Proceeds Requested and consequently (1) the
principal amount of the Series 2024 Local Bond may be greater than the Proceeds Requested in
order to receive an amount of proceeds that is substantially equal to the Proceeds Requested, or
(2) if the maximum authorized aggregate amount of the Series 2024 Local Bond set forth in
paragraph 3 of this Resolution does not exceed the Proceeds Requested by at least an amount of
the VRA Costs and any original issue discount, the amount to be paid to the Water Authority,
given the VRA Purchase Price Objective and market conditions, will be less than the Proceeds
Requested; and

WHEREAS, substantially final drafts of the forms of the Amendment to 2016 Financing
Agreement, the 2024 Financing Agreement, the Amendment to Service Agreement and the
Amended Support Agreements have been made available to the members of the Authority and
filed with the Authority’s records; and

WHEREAS, to the extent that all of VRA’s conditions, as set forth in the Term Sheet or
otherwise disclosed to the Water Authority, are not satisfied prior to VRA’s deadline for the Water
Authority to participate in VRA’s issuance of the spring pool series of Series 2024 VRA Bonds,
the Water Authority desires to authorize (i) the Water Authority’s participation in either the
summer or fall pool series of Series 2024 VRA Bonds, and (ii) the Water Authority’s financial
advisor, Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”), to publish a request for
proposals to qualified financial institutions, by which such financial institutions will be requested
to provide terms for an interim loan to the Water Authority for purposes of financing costs of the
Project (herein, the “Interim Financing”), the proceeds of which Interim Financing shall be
expended on costs of the Project until such time as permanent financing can be secured by the
Water Authority by virtue of the issuance by the Water Authority of its Series 2024 Local Bond
and the acquisition thereof by VRA in connection with VRA’s issuance of the Series 2024 VRA
Bonds;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE JAMES RIVER WATER
AUTHORITY:

1. Issuance of Series 2024 Local Bond and Use of Proceeds. Pursuant to the
Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth, including the Act, the Water Authority hereby
approves the issuance and sale of the Series 2024 Local Bond to provide funds to finance or
refinance the Project and pay the costs of issuing the Series 2024 Local Bond and any other
financing costs including without limitation the funding of one or more required reserve funds.

2. Method of Sale. After consideration of the methods of sale of the Series 2024
Local Bond, it is hereby determined that it is in the best interests of the Water Authority to accept,
and the Water Authority does hereby accept, the offer from VRA to purchase the Series 2024 Local
Bond, on the terms set forth in the 2024 Term Sheet. To the extent that all conditions stated in the
2024 Term Sheet have been satisfied in the judgment of VRA or waived by VRA, the Series 2024
Local Bond is hereby sold to VRA in accordance with the terms and provisions set forth in the
2024 Term Sheet and the 2024 Financing Agreement.




3. Series 2024 Local Bond Details. The Series 2024 Local Bond shall be issued as a
single, registered bond without coupons, shall be designated “Revenue Bond, Series 2024,” shall
be numbered R-1, shall be dated the date required by VRA, shall be in the principal amount not to
exceed $49,000,000, shall bear interest at the rate or rates to be set forth therein and shall mature
not later than October 1, 2054. The Water Authority hereby authorizes the issuance and sale of the
Series 2024 Local Bond at a “true” interest cost not to exceed 5.75% (exclusive of “Supplemental
Interest” as provided in the 2024 Financing Agreement). Given the VRA Purchase Price Objective
and market conditions, it may become necessary to issue the Series 2024 Local Bond in an
aggregate amount greater than the Proceeds Requested. If the limitation on the maximum
aggregate principal amount of the Series 2024 Local Bond set forth in this Paragraph 3 restricts
VRA’s ability to generate the Proceeds Requested, taking into account the VRA Costs, the VRA
Purchase Price Objective and market conditions, the purchase price of the Series 2024 Local Bond
will generate an amount less than the Proceed Requested. Subject to the foregoing limitations, the
Water Authority authorizes VRA to establish the final principal amount of the Series 2024 Local
Bond, the final interest rate or rates on the Series 2024 Local Bond, and the final maturity date and
final principal amortization schedule (including principal installment dates and amounts) for the
Series 2024 Local Bond. No further action or approval of such financing terms shall be necessary
on the part of the Water Authority. The principal of, premium, if any and interest on the Series
2024 Local Bond shall be payable on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the series 2024 Local
Bond and the 2024 Financing Agreement. The Water Authority may, at its option, redeem, prepay,
defease or refund the Series 2024 Local Bond upon the terms set forth in the 2024 Financing
Agreement. Interest on the Series 2024 Local Bond shall be computed on the basis described in
the 2024 Financing Agreement and the form of the Series 2024 Local Bond.

As set forth in the 2024 Financing Agreement, the Water Authority agrees to pay such
“Supplemental Interest” and other charges as provided therein, including such amounts as may be
necessary to maintain or replenish the VRA Reserve (as defined in the 2024 Financing Agreement),
and, on the demand of VRA, a late payment penalty if any principal or interest payment on the
Series 2024 Local Bond is not paid within ten days after its due date.

4. Approval of Bond Documents. Each of the 2024 Financing Agreement and the
form of the Series 2024 Local Bond, the Amendment to 2016 Financing Agreement, the Amended
Support Agreements, and the Amendment to Service Agreement (herein, collectively, the “Bond
Documents™) shall be in substantially the form made available to the Water Authority at this
meeting or prior to the execution thereof by the Water Authority, all of which are hereby approved,
with such completions, omissions, insertions and changes (including without limitation changes to
the dates thereof to reflect the appropriate dates given the timing of VRA’s purchase of the Series
2024 Local Bond) as may be approved by the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Water Authority,
either of whom may act, which approval shall be evidenced conclusively by the execution and
delivery of such Bond Documents.

5. Authorization of Execution and Delivery of Series 2024 Local Bond; Bond
Documents; Other Documents. Each of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Water
Authority, either of whom may act, is hereby authorized and directed to execute the Series 2024
Local Bond, and each of the Secretary and the Assistant Secretary, either of whom may act, are
hereby authorized and directed to affix the Water Authority’s seal thereon and to attest such seal.




Each of the Chairman and Vice Chairman, either of whom may act, is hereby authorized and
directed to execute the Bond Documents on behalf of the Water Authority and to deliver same to
VRA or the Member Jurisdictions, as the case may be. Each of the Chairman and Vice Chairman,
either of whom may act, and all other appropriate officers of the Water Authority, any of whom
may act, are hereby authorized to (i) execute and deliver all other certificates, instruments and
documents in the name and on behalf of the Water Authority, including without limitation a Non-
Arbitrage Certificate and Tax Compliance Agreement dated as set forth therein, and (ii) take all
such further action as (a) they, or any of them, may consider necessary or desirable to carry out the
intent and purposes of this Resolution, the issuance of the Series 2024 Local Bond, the financing
of the Project and the execution, delivery and performance of the Water Authority of the 2024
Financing Agreement and the Bond Documents, or (b) as may be reasonably requested by VRA in
connection with any of the foregoing.

6. Approval of Publication of Request for Proposals for Interim Financing. The
Water Authority hereby authorizes the Financial Advisor to prepare and publish on behalf of the
Water Authority a Request for Proposals or solicitation document of similar import, by which it
will solicit, on behalf of the Water Authority, offers for and terms of the Interim Financing, to allow
the Water Authority to proceed with the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project until
such time as the Series 2024 Local Bond may be issued by the Water Authority and acquired by
VRA in connection with the issuance by VRA of the Series 2024 VRA Bonds.

7. Pledge of Revenues and Limited Obligations. In accordance with the provisions
of the 2024 Financing Agreement, the Water Authority pledges the Net Revenues Available for
Debt Service (as defined in the Financing Agreement) to the payment of the principal of, premium,
if any, and interest on the Series 2024 Local Bonds. The Water Authority has no taxing power.
The Series 2024 Local Bond shall not be deemed to constitute a pledge of the faith and credit of
the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof, including the Water Authority and the
Member Jurisdictions. Neither the Commonwealth nor any political subdivision thereof, including
the Water Authority and the Member Jurisdictions, shall be obligated to pay the principal of,
premium if any, and interest on the Series 2024 Local Bond or other costs incident thereto, except
from the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service and other moneys specifically pledged therefor
under the 2024 Financing Agreement, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the
Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof, including the Water Authority and the
Member Jurisdictions, is pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
on the Series 2024 Local Bond or the other costs incident thereto.

8. Official Statement. The Water Authority hereby authorizes and consents to VRA’s
inclusion of such information as may be deemed necessary relative to the Water Authority, the
Project, and if necessary, the Member Jurisdictions, in the Preliminary and Final Official Statement
prepared with respect to the 2024 VRA Bonds (the “OS”), and further authorizes the Chairman or
the Vice Chairman, in consultation with the Water Authority’s bond counsel, to prepare and file
with the appropriate repository or repositories such continuing disclosure relative to the Water
Authority and the Project as may be deemed to be necessary in the event that the Water Authority
shall become a “Material Local Government” with respect to the 2024 VRA Bonds, as described
in the OS.




0. SNAP Investment Authorization. The Water Authority has previously received
and reviewed an Information Statement describing the State Non-Arbitrage Program of the
Commonwealth of Virginia (“SNAP”) and the Contract Creating the State Non-Arbitrage Program
Pool I (the “Contract”), and the Water Authority has determined to authorize the use of SNAP in
connection with the investment of the proceeds of the 2024 VRA Bonds, if the Chairman or the
Vice Chairman determines that the utilization of SNAP is in the best interests of the Water
Authority. The Water Authority acknowledges that the Treasury Board of the Commonwealth of
Virginia is not, and shall not be, in any way liable to the Water Authority in connection with SNAP,
except as otherwise provided in the Contract.

10. Other_Actions. All actions of Water Authority officials taken heretofore or
hereafter in conformity with the purposes and intent of this Resolution are hereby ratified,
approved and confirmed, as the case may be.

11. Limitation of Liability of Officials of the Water Authority. No covenant,
condition, agreement or obligation contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, condition,
agreement or obligation of any officer, employee or agent of the Water Authority in his or her
individual capacity. No officer of the Water Authority executing the Series 2024 Local Bond shall
be liable personally on the Series 2024 Local Bond or be subject to any personal liability or
accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. No officer, employee or agent of the Water
Authority shall incur any personal liability with respect to any other action taken by him or her
pursuant to this Resolution, provided he or she acts in good faith.

12.  Appointment of Bond Counsel. The Water Authority hereby appoints the law firm
of Haneberg Hurlbert PLC, Richmond, Virginia, as bond counsel to supervise the proceedings and
approve the issuance of the Series 2024 Local Bond.

13. Reimbursement Resolution. The Water Authority intends that the adoption of this
resolution be considered as “official intent” within the meaning of the Treasury Regulations,
Section 1.150-2, promulgated under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

14. Repeal of Conflicting Resolutions. All resolutions, ordinances or parts thereof
that may be in conflict with this Resolution are hereby repealed.

15.  Effective Date. This Resolution and the provisions contained herein shall become
effective immediately upon adoption of this Resolution.

[END OF RESOLUTION — CERTIFICATE FOLLOWS]



CERTIFICATE

The undersigned Secretary of the James River Water Authority hereby certifies that:

1. A meeting of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the James River Water
Authority was duly called and held on March 13, 2024 (the “Meeting”).

2. Attached hereto is a true, correct and complete copy of a resolution (the
“Resolution”) of the Board entitled “RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE
AND SALE OF A REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2024, OF THE JAMES RIVER WATER
AUTHORITY AND PROVIDING FOR THE FORM, DETAILS AND PAYMENT
THEREOF” as recorded in full in the minutes of the Meeting and duly adopted by a majority of
the members of the Board present and voting during the Meeting.

3. A summary of the members of the Board present or absent at the Meeting, and the
recorded vote with respect to the Resolution, is set forth below:

Voting

Member Name Present Absent Yes No Abstaining

D.D. Watson, Chairman

Eric W. Anderson

Tommy J. Barlow

Eric Dahl

Patricia B. Eager

Christian Goodwin

4, The Resolution has not been repealed, revoked, rescinded or amended, and is in full
force and effect on the date hereof.

Dated: March _, 2024

WITNESS my signature and the seal of the James River Water Authority this day of
March, 2024.

Secretary, James River Water Authority
[SEAL]



AMENDMENT TO SERVICE AGREEMENT

This Amendment to Service Agreement (the “Amendment”), entered into and effective as
of April __, 2024, by and among James River Water Authority (the “Authority”), the County of
Fluvanna, Virginia (“Fluvanna County”) and the County of Louisa, Virginia (“Louisa County”
and together with Fluvanna County, the “Counties”), recites and provides as follows:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Authority, Fluvanna County and Louisa County entered into that certain
Service Agreement dated and effective as of April 1, 2015 (the “Service Agreement,” capitalized
terms used and not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given such terms in the
Service Agreement), by the terms of which the Authority and the Counties agreed to certain terms,
conditions, covenants and other matters pertaining to the development and construction by the
Authority of a system for the supply of raw water to the Counties; and

WHEREAS, on or about May 25, 2016, the Authority issued its $7,695,000 Revenue
Bond, Series 2016 (the “Series 2016 Local Bond”), which constitutes a series of Bonds under the
Service Agreement, and was sold to the Virginia Resources Authority (“VRA”) in connection with
the issuance by the VRA of its $136,620,000 Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation Revenue
Bonds (Virginia Pooled Financing Program), Series 2016A (the “Series 2016 VRA Bonds”); and

WHEREAS, in connection with the issuance by the Authority of an additional series of
Bonds, specifically its Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (the “2024 Local Bond” and, together with the
2016 Bond, the “Local Bonds™), and the sale of the 2024 Local Bond to VRA in connection with
VRAs issuance of its Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation Revenue Bonds (Virginia Pooled
Financing Program), Series 2024A or Series 2024B or Series 2024C (regardless of whether Series
2024A or Series 2024B or Series 2024C, the “Series 2024 VRA Bonds”), each of the Authority
and the Counties desires to amend certain provisions of the Service Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which is hereby acknowledged, each of the Authority and the Counties hereby agrees as follows:

AGREEMENT
1. Article | DEFINITIONS of the Service Agreement is hereby amended, as follows:
A. The defined term “Bond Fund” shall be and hereby is deleted, and any references to
“Bond Fund” in the Service Agreement shall be deleted dor disregarded as the context

may require.

B. The defined term “Capital Costs” is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to
provide as follows:

“Capital Costs” shall mean the debt service payments required to pay the Local
Bonds and any additional Bonds issued by the Authority and other capital



improvement costs, including required payments under the Financing Agreements
[and] required payments to the Operating Fund, [and required payments to the
Replacement Fund].

C. The defined term “Debt Service Reserve Fund” is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to provide as follows:

“Debt Service Reserve Fund” shall mean, collectively, the “Local Debt Service
Reserve Fund” as such term is contemplated by, and defined and described in, each
of the Financing Agreements, in addition to any similar debt service reserve fund
as may be created in connection with the issuance of additional Bonds by the
Authority.

D. There is hereby included in the Service Agreement the defined term “Financing
Agreement or Financing Agreements,” which shall provide as follows:

“Financing Agreement or Financing Agreements” means, individually or
collectively, as the context may require, (1) the Local Bond Sale and Financing
Agreement by and between the Authority and VRA dated as of April 1, 2016, as
amended (the “2016 Financing Agreement”) which provides, among other things,
the terms and conditions for VRA’s purchase of the Series 2016 Local Bond, and
(2) the Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement by and between the Authority
and VRA, dated as of April 1, 2024 (the “2024 Financing Agreement”) which
provides, among other things, the terms and conditions for VRA’s purchase of the
Series 2024 Local Bond.

E. There is hereby included in the Service Agreement the defined term “Local Reserve
Requirement” which shall provide as follows:

“Local Reserve Requirement” shall mean the aggregate amount of the “Local
Reserve Requirement” as defined in the Financing Agreements and required to be
deposited by the Authority in the Debt Service Reserve Fund with respect to the
Local Bonds.

F. Each of the defined terms “Operating Fund” [and “Replacement Fund”] and “Trust
Agreement” shall be amended and restated in its entirety, as follows:

“Operating Fund” shall mean the operating account maintained by the Authority,
from which Operating and Maintenance Costs, among other costs, shall be paid by
the Authority.

[“Replacement Fund” shall mean a distinct and segregated account maintained by
the Authority, from which any extraordinary costs of repairs or replacements to the
System shall be paid by the Authority.]



“Trust Agreement” shall mean the Financing Agreements, or any Agreement of
Trust or similar agreement between the Authority and a Trustee, entered into for
the purpose of allowing the Authority to issue Bonds, as supplemented and
amended from time to time.

G. [The defined term “System” is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to provide
as follows:

“System” shall mean the raw water intake, raw water pump station, booster pump
stations raw water storage facilities, raw water pipelines and all associated
appurtenances necessary for a complete and functional installation, all plants,
systems, facilities, equipment or property owned, operated or maintined by the
Authority and used in connection with the supply, storage or distribution of raw
water, including, without limitation, dams, water supply systems, water distribution
systems, reservoirs, wells, intakes, mains, laterals, pumping stations, standpipes,
filtration plants, purification plants, hydrants, meters, valves and equipment and
apparatus, and all properties, rights, easements and franchises relating thereto. The
raw water intake and raw water pump station shall be constructed along the James
River in the vicinity of the Town of Columbia in the County of Fluvanna. The raw
water pipeline shall proceed northward from the intake facility to a point near Route
6 and Columbia Community Planning Area (“CPA”), as the CPA is show on the
Fluvanna County Comprehensive Plan as of the date of execution of this
Agreement, and shall include “T” connections and valves to allow the Counties to
connect to the System. Booster pump stations, raw water storage facilities and
associated appurtenances shall be constructed as required along the pipeline route
on Authority owned and/or leased property.] [TO BE UPDATED, AS
NECESSARY]

2. Section 3.2 of the Service Agreement is hereby amended to include an additional
subsection (c), which shall provide as follows:

(©) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any sale of raw
water by the Authority to any party other than the Counties, or by the Counties (or
either of them) to any outside party or parties, and any transfer or assignment by
the Counties, or either of them, of all or part of its or their respective allocation of
raw water as provided in this Agreement, shall not release the selling or transferring
party from (i) any obligation to pay its respective share of Capital Costs or (ii) any
other liability under this Agreement.

3. Section 6.3 of the Service Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to
provide as follows:

Section 6.3  Details of Annual Budget

The budget request and Annual Budget shall be prepared in such manner as to show
in reasonable detail all rates, fees and other charges to be derived by the Authority



4.

to pay, in the ensuing Fiscal Year, (i) all Operating Expenses expected to be
incurred in connection with the ownership or operation of the Authority’s System,
(ii) the amount required to be paid, if any, into the Replacement Fund, (iii) the
amount of principal, premium, if any, and interest that shall become due on the
Local Bonds or any additional Bonds issued by the Authority, including any amount
necessary to be paid into the Debt Service Reserve Fund to restore the balance
therein to the amount of the Local Reserve Requirement for the Local Bonds (or
such other amount as may be applicable to any additional Bonds issued by the
Authority), and (iv) any other lawful costs and expenses that the Authority deems
necessary or desirable.

Each of the Authority and the Counties, in its individual capacity and collectively, (i)
acknowledges the provisions of Section 7.2 of the Service Agreement, (ii) requests, and
acknowledges receipt of requests from the other parties hereto, that this Amendment be
prepared, executed and delivered in connection with the issuance by the Authority of the
2024 Local Bond, (iii) acknowledges that the restatement of the defined term “System” as
provided herein is necessary to reflect certain adjustments to the design and construction
plans for the System since the date of the Service Agreement, and that such restatement
does not adversely affect the prompt payment of all moneys required to be paid by the
Counties under the terms of the Service Agreement; (iv) confirms that this Amendment has
been approved by Resolution duly adopted its Board of Directors or Board of Supervisors,
as the case may be, and (v) waives any prior notice or joint meeting requirements under
the Service Agreement that may otherwise be applicable to an amendment of the Service
Agreement.

Except as amended by this Amendment, the Service Agreement remains in full force and
effect, and enforceable against the Authority and the Counties in accordance with its terms.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank — Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Authority and the Counties has caused this
Amendment to be executed as of the date first above written.
JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

By:
Title:

Approved as to Form:

Counsel, James River Water Authority

COUNTY OF FLUVANNA, VIRGINIA

By:
Title:

Approved as to Form:

Fluvanna County Attorney

COUNTY OF LOUISA, VIRGINIA

By:
Title:

Approved as to Form:

Louisa County Attorney



AMENDMENT TO LOCAL BOND SALE
AND FINANCING AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT TO LOCAL BOND SALE AND FINANCING AGREEMENT
(this "Amendment") is dated as of April ___, 2024, and is by and between the JAMES RIVER
WATER AUTHORITY, a public body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth of Virginia (the "Local Government”), and the VIRGINIA RESOURCES
AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of
Virginia ("VRA").

RECITALS

A. On May 25, 2016, VRA issued its Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation
Revenue Bonds (Virginia Pooled Financing Program), Series 2016A (the "2016A VRA Bonds"),
and used a portion of the proceeds thereof to acquire from the Local Government its $7,965,000
Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (the "Local Bond™), pursuant to a Local Bond Sale and Financing
Agreement dated as of April 1, 2016 (the "Financing Agreement") between the Local Government
and VRA.

B. The Local Government has requested VRA to agree to certain amendments to the
Financing Agreement, including to the description of the Project set forth in Exhibit B of the
Financing Agreement (the "Original Project") and to the Project Budget set forth in Schedule 1.1
to the Financing Agreement (the "Original Project Budget™) as set forth in Exhibits A and B,
respectively, attached to this Amendment.

C. VRA has agreed to make the amendments requested on the terms and conditions
set forth in this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Amendment. This Amendment is authorized and entered into pursuant to
and in accordance with Section 11.3 of the Financing Agreement.

Section 2. Definitions. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms used but
not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Financing Agreement.

Section 3. Amendments to Definitions. The definitions of the capitalized terms
"Service Agreement,” "Support Agreements™ and "System" are hereby amended to read as follows:

""Service Agreement™ means the Service Agreement dated as of April 1, 2015, by and
among the Local Government, Fluvanna County and Louisa County, as amended by the
Amendment to Service Agreement dated as of April ___, 2024, regarding the provision by the
Local Government of raw water from the System to Fluvanna County and Louisa County.

"Support Agreements” means, collectively, the Amended and Restated Support
Agreement dated as of March 15, 2024, among Fluvanna County, the Local Government and
VRA, and the Amended and Restated Support Agreement dated as of March 15, 2024, among
Louisa County, the Local Government and VRA.

186508573.1



""System" means [TO BE CONFORMED WITH SERVICE AGREEMENT all plants,
systems, facilities, equipment or property owned, operated or maintained by the Local Government
and used in connection with the supply, storage or distribution of water, as the same may exist
from time to time], and shall include the Related Financed Property.

[The definitions of "Revenues" and "Operation and Maintenance Expenses” may be
amended to align with the definitions in the Service Agreement if deemed to facilitate the
administration of the Service Agreement and Financing Agreement.]

Section 4. Amendments to Original Project and Original Project Budget.

@ The description of the Original Project set forth in Exhibit B of the
Financing Agreement is hereby amended to provide as set forth in Exhibit A to this Amendment.

(b) The Local Government reaffirms, acknowledges and agrees that all of the
facilities and equipment to be acquired, constructed or improved as described in Exhibit A to this
Amendment will be part of the "System" as that term is defined in Section 1.1 of the Financing
Agreement [or in Section 3 above].

(© The Original Project Budget is hereby amended to provide as set forth in
Exhibit B to this Amendment.

Section 5. Conditions _Precedent to Effectiveness of Amendments. The
amendments to be made by this Amendment to the Financing Agreement shall not be effective
unless and until VRA has received the following in form and substance satisfactory to VRA:

@ A certified copy of a resolution of the governing body of the Local Government
approving this Amendment;

(b) An executed counterpart of this Amendment;

(© An executed counterpart of the Amendment to Nonarbitrage Certificate and Tax
Compliance Agreement dated as of April __, 2024 (the "Tax Amendment"), by and between VRA
and the Local Government, together with evidence satisfactory to VRA as to the status of various
Project elements; and

(d) An opinion of Haneberg Hurlbert PLC, bond counsel to the Local Government,
regarding the authorization and enforceability of the Amendment and the Tax Amendment and the
private activity bond status of the Local Bond, and an opinion of McGuireWoods LLP to the effect
that the implementation of this Amendment and the Tax Amendment will have no adverse effect
on the exclusion of interest on the 2016A VRA Bonds from gross income for federal income tax
purposes, and will not cause interest on the 2016A VRA Bonds to become a specific item of tax
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and
corporations.

Section 6. Ratification. Except as otherwise expressly amended herein, all the terms
and conditions of the Financing Agreement are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall continue
in full force and effect.



Section 7. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall
constitute one and same Amendment.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Local Government and VRA have caused this
Amendment to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY

By:

Shawn B. Crumlish, Executive Director

JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

By:

Printed Name:

Title:

ACKNOWLEDGED:

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By:

Printed Name:

Title:

[SIGNATURE PAGE OF AMENDMENT TO LOCAL BOND SALE
AND FINANCING AGREEMENT]

S-1



EXHIBIT A

AMENDED PROJECT DESCRIPTION

[TO BE UPDATED]



EXHIBIT B
AMENDED PROJECT BUDGET

[TO BE UPDATED]



186308942_3

LOCAL BOND SALE AND FINANCING AGREEMENT
between

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY

and

JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

Dated as of March 15, 2024

Virginia Resources Authority
Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation Revenue Bonds
(Virginia Pooled Financing Program)

Series 2024A

Revenue
New Money



Section 1.1
Section 1.2

Section 2.1
Section 2.2
Section 2.3

Section 3.1
Section 3.2
Section 3.3
Section 3.4

Section 4.1
Section 4.2
Section 4.3
Section 4.4

Section 5.1
Section 5.2
Section 5.3
Section 5.4
Section 5.5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS
DETINITIONS ...ttt ettt r et nreas 1
RUIES OF CONSEIUCTION......ccvviiiiieiee e 6
ARTICLE Il
REPRESENTATIONS
Representations DY VRA ........ooi ittt 6
Representations by Local GOVErNMENT ...........ccooiiiiiiiniiieesee e 7
Representations Remade as of the Sale Date ............ccccccevvevieiieiiececc e, 9
ARTICLE 11
PURCHASE OF THE LOCAL BOND
Purchase of the LOCal BONG .........ccoieiiiiiiie e 10
[SSUANCE EXPENSES ...ttt 10
SCREAUIE 1.1, ot bbbt 11
Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond............cccccooiiininiiicienn, 11
ARTICLE IV
USE OF PURCHASE PRICE
Deposit of Purchase Price; Investment of Amounts in Local Account............... 14
Agreement to Accomplish Project .........ccccovevveieiiiiiiie e 14
Disbursement of Purchase Price and Earnings..........cccccooeerenencneneniseeenn, 14
No Sufficiency Warranty by VRA; Local Government Required to
COMPIELE PrOJECT......eeeeiiee et 15
ARTICLE V
PLEDGE AND SECURITY
PIBOGE .t 16
RALE COVENANT ...ttt e e e nnee s 16
Annual Budget 0f the SYSTEM .......ooiiiiiiiiiee e 17
Qualified Independent Consultant's REPOIt ..........cccvevieiiiciic i 17
Local Debt Service ReServe FUNG.........ccooeiviiiiiiiiiieieeese e 18



Section 5.6
Section 5.7

Section 6.1
Section 6.2
Section 6.3
Section 6.4

Section 7.1
Section 7.2
Section 7.3
Section 7.4
Section 7.5
Section 7.6
Section 7.7
Section 7.8
Section 7.9
Section 7.10
Section 7.11
Section 7.12
Section 7.13
Section 7.14

Section 8.1
Section 8.2
Section 8.3

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

Page
Minimum Enterprise Fund Balance ..., 19
Limitation on Amendments to Certain DOCUMENTS .........cccooeveveneninnnisieins 19

ARTICLE VI
PAYMENT AND REDEMPTION OF LOCAL BOND
Payment of Local Bond and Related AMOUNES ..........ccocvevieiieineie e 20
Defeasance and Redemption of Local Bond.............coovvieiiiininciciiiceee, 21
Payments and Rights ASSIGNEA ..........coiveiiiieiieieee e 22
Obligations Absolute and Unconditional .............cccccooviiiiiininiiieee, 22
ARTICLE VII
OPERATION AND USE COVENANTS
Y LT g1 =] TV o SRR 23
Additions and ModifiCatIONS..........ccevireriiiieie e 23
=T 1 1L SRS TTOSSRSRO 23
LU TR OTR PR UPRPRPTN 23
Inspection and Local Government's Books and Records...........cccccvevvvveivennnne. 23
OWNEISNID <ottt et et sb e sae e reebe e e e nne s 23
Sale O ENCUMDIANCE........iiieeee et 24
ColleCtion Of REVENUES .......ccuoiviiiiiiiieieeee et 24
N[ T =] Y o - SRS 24
NO COMPELING SEIVICE ....c.vecveeiveeie ettt ae e 25
Mandatory CONNECTION .......c.oiiiiiiiieiieeie e 25
LAWTUL Charges ...c.vv et 25
Construction Contractors .........cccceeevevevverveenne Error! Bookmark not defined.
ENQINEEIING SEIVICES......eciiiiiiiiiecie ettt re e 25
ARTICLE VIII
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

INSUTANCE ...ttt ettt e be e esbeeenn e 25
Requirements Of POIICIES.........oooiiiiiiiie e 26
Notice of Damage, Destruction or Condemnation............ccceeveeviieiiieesiesieesinnn 26



Section 8.4
Section 8.5

Section 9.1
Section 9.2
Section 9.3
Section 9.4
Section 9.5
Section 9.6
Section 9.7
Section 9.8
Section 9.9
Section 9.10

Section 10.1
Section 10.2
Section 10.3
Section 10.4

Section 11.1
Section 11.2
Section 11.3
Section 11.4
Section 11.5
Section 11.6
Section 11.7

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

Page

Damage and DESIIUCTION .......c..oiuiiiiiiieieiee e 26
Condemnation and LoSS OF TILIE ........c.coveiiiiiiiiiiiceee e 27

ARTICLE IX

SPECIAL COVENANTS

TAX COVENANTS......ceiieiieeiie et sr e e re e nne e 27
Maintenance Of EXISTENCE .......ccveviiieiieiieie e 27
Financial Records and StatemMents ..........ccccovviereiinininieiee e 27
Certification as to No Default and Tax Compliance..........ccocoviiiniiiniiicnenn, 28
FUMNEE ASSUFAINCES ......eivieiieiie ettt sttt bbb nr e 28
Assignment by Local GOVEIMMENT..........cccoiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e 28
ContinUING DISCIOSUIE.........eeiuiiieitiecit ettt sae s 28
Other INAEDTEANESS.......ecieieeeee e e nae s 32
Additional INAEDEANESS........cviiiiiiiiiie e 32
Litigation; Material Change ............coveiiiiiiieie e 32

ARTICLE X

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

EVeNts Of Default.........cccoooviiiiiee e e 32
ACCEIETALION ..ttt bbbt 33
Other REMEAIES .....eveeieee ettt saeene et eee e nnees 33
Delay and WAIVET .........cocouiiiiiiecie ettt ae e 33

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEQOUS

State AT INTEICEPL.....cvi et 34
SUCCESSOIS aNU ASSIGNS ...ttt sttt sttt b e bbbt 34
AMENAMENTS ...ttt sttt sr et reene e 34
Limitation of Local Government's Liability ..........c.ccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiece 34
Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by Virginia law. .............. 34
SEVEIADIIITY ..o 34
N OTICES ...ttt bbbt b ettt b e et s e be e nbe e b e be e b e 34



Section 11.8
Section 11.9
Section 11.10

Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D
Exhibit E
Exhibit F
Exhibit G
Exhibit H
Exhibit |

Exhibit J

Schedule 1.1

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

Page
Right to Cure Default ..o 35
Term Of AQrEEBMENT.......ccviiieie ettt ens 35
COUNTEIPAITS ...t bbb 35

Form of Local Bond

Description of the Project

Pending or Threatened Actions, Suits, Proceedings, or Investigations
Form of Requisition

Operating Data

Form of Opinion of Counsel to the Local Government

Form of Certification as to No Default and Tax Compliance
Description of Special Use Arrangements

Form of Annual Budget

Existing Parity Bonds

Final Terms

-jv-



LOCAL BOND SALE AND FINANCING AGREEMENT

This LOCAL BOND SALE AND FINANCING AGREEMENT is dated as of March
15, 2024, and is between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body
corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia ("VRA"), and the
JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY, a public body politic and corporate and a political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "Local Government™).

A. VRA intends to issue its Related Series of VRA Bonds, as hereinafter defined,
and to use a portion of the proceeds thereof to acquire from the Local Government the Local
Bond, as hereinafter defined.

B. VRA and the Local Government wish to set forth herein certain terms, conditions
and provisions related to the purchase of the Local Bond, the application of the proceeds thereof,
the payment of the debt service thereon and the security therefor, and the use and maintenance of
the Related Financed Property, as hereinafter defined.

NOW, THEREFORE, VRA and the Local Government agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1  Definitions. Each capitalized term contained in this Agreement has the
meaning set forth below:

""2024A Acquisition Fund™ has the meaning set forth in the Related Supplemental
Series Indenture.

"Act" means the Virginia Resources Authority Act, Chapter 21, Title 62.1 of the Code of
Virginia of 1950, as amended.

"Agreement' means this Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated the date first
written above, between VRA and the Local Government, as modified, altered, amended or
supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof.

"Annual Budget' means the budget of the System for each Fiscal Year.

""Business Day'" means any day on which commercial banking institutions are generally
open for business in New York, New York and Richmond, Virginia.

""Closing Date' means May 15, 2024, or such other date as may be determined by VRA.
""Consulting Engineer' means the Local Engineer or the Outside Engineer.

"Effective Date™ means March 22, 2024, which is the deadline for the Local
Government to provide an executed copy of this Agreement to VRA.



"Enterprise Fund™ means the Local Government's water utility enterprise fund
described in the Local Government's annual audit as a proprietary fund for business type
activities.

""Event of Default™ has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.
"Existing Parity Bonds' has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(n).

"Financing Parameters™ means the parameters established by the governing body of
the Local Government regarding the terms and conditions of the Local Bond, which may include
a maximum par amount, maximum "true" interest cost or targeted savings.

"Fiscal Year" means the 12-month period beginning July 1 of one year and ending on
June 30 of the following year, or if the Local Government has established another 12-month
period as its annual accounting period such other 12-month period.

"Fluvanna County'" means the County of Fluvanna, Virginia.

""Government Obligations' means direct obligations of, or obligations the payment of
the principal of and interest on which is unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of
America.

"Interjurisdictional Agreement’ means the Agreement dated as of October 1, 2013, as
modified by Addendum No. 1 thereto dated [December 1, 2015], each by and among the Local
Government, Fluvanna County, Louisa County and the Louisa County Water Authority,
reflecting the desire to move the Local Government's James River raw water intake from Bremo
Bluff to near the Town of Columbia and to set forth the parties' respective rights and duties with
respect to the Project. [Will there be any amendments to this agreement?]

"Local Account' means the local account established for the Local Bond within the
2024 A Acquisition Fund.

"Local Authorization™ means the resolution adopted on March 13, 2024, by a majority
of the members of the governing body of the Local Government approving (i) the transactions
contemplated by and authorizing the execution and delivery of the Local Bond Documents and
(i) the execution, issuance and sale of the Local Bond subject to the Financing Parameters.

"Local Bond™ means the Local Government's [Revenue Bond, Series 2024], issued in
the original principal amount set forth in Schedule 1.1, as such bond may be amended or
modified.

"Local Bond Documents™ means this Agreement, the Support Agreements and the
Local Tax Document.

""Local Debt Service Reserve Fund®' means the fund established under Section 5.5.



""Local Engineer' means an officer or employee of the Local Government so designated
in writing by a Local Representative, which officer or employee (i) is licensed as a professional
engineer in Virginia, (ii) has recognized standing and experience in the design and construction
of facilities similar to the Project and (iii) is subject to VRA's reasonable approval.

"Local Government' means the James River Water Authority.

"Local Representative™ means (i) the chair or vice chair of the governing body of the
Local Government, (ii) the chief executive officer of the Local Government and (iii) any other
official or employee of the Local Government authorized by resolution of the governing body of
the Local Government to perform the act or sign the document in question.

""Local Reserve Fund Determination Date' means (i) the 10" day after each interest
payment date under the Local Bond or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the first Business
Day thereafter or (ii) any other date established in writing by VRA for the valuation of
obligations on deposit in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund.

"Local Reserve Requirement™ means an amount equal to the maximum annual debt
service payment on the Local Bond as of the Closing Date as set forth in Schedule 1.1.

"Local Tax Document™ means the Nonarbitrage Certificate and Tax Compliance
Agreement dated the Closing Date, between the Local Government and VRA, as modified,
altered, amended and supplemented.

"Louisa County"" means the County of Louisa, Virginia.

""Master Indenture’ means the Master Indenture of Trust dated as of December 1, 2003,
between VRA and the Trustee, as modified, altered, amended and supplemented in accordance
with its terms.

"Net Revenues Available for Debt Service™ means the Revenues less amounts
necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expenses.

"Operation and Maintenance Expenses’ means the costs of operating and maintaining
the System determined under generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of (i) interest
on any debt payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and other items not requiring the
expenditure of cash, (iii)any amounts expended for capital replacements, repairs and
maintenance not recurring either annually or biannually, depending on the customary practice of
performing operation and maintenance, or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for administration,
operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business.

"Qutside Engineer' means a firm of independent consulting engineers with recognized
standing in the field of water system engineering and licensed as professional engineers in
Virginia that the Local Government designates in writing, subject to VRA's reasonable approval.



"Parity Bonds' means the bonds and other obligations of the Local Government secured
by a pledge of Revenues on a parity with the lien of the pledge of Revenues that secures the
Local Bond, including the Existing Parity Bonds.

"Proceeds Requested™ means $42,510,650, together with an amount to pay related costs
of issuance and capitalized interest on the Local Bond through April 1, 2025, and the funding of
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund on the Local Bond, or such other amount requested in
writing by the Local Government and approved by VRA prior to the Sale Date.

"Project™ means the project described in Exhibit B.
"Project Budget' means the budget for the Project set forth in Schedule 1.1.

"Project Costs™ means the costs of the Project to the extent such costs are included in
the definition of "cost" set forth in Section 62.1-199 of the Act, and includes the refunding of
obligations of VRA or the Local Government issued to finance or refinance "costs" set forth in
Section 62.1-199 of the Act.

"Purchase Price has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1.1 and represents the amount
received by the Local Government from the sale of the Local Bond to VRA. The Purchase Price
of the Local Bond will be determined by adding to or subtracting from the par amount of the
Local Bond the Local Government's share of the net original issue premium or discount on the
Related Series of VRA Bonds and by subtracting from the par amount of the Local Bond the
Local Government's share of VRA's expenses as set forth in Section 3.2 and the Local
Government's share of the deposit on the Closing Date to any applicable VRA Reserve. It is
acknowledged that the Purchase Price does not include any accrued interest on the Local Bond
from its dated date to the Closing Date.

"Qualified Independent Consultant™ means an independent professional consultant
having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval
required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including
without limitation an Outside Engineer, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of
independent certified public accountants; provided, however, all Qualified Independent
Consultants are subject to the reasonable approval of VRA.

"Registrar' means the officer or employee of the Local Government designated under
the Local Authorization to maintain the registration books for the Local Bond.

"Related Financed Property™ means the land, building, equipment and other property,
the acquisition, construction, renovation, or equipping of which was financed by the Local Bond
as part of the Project.

"Related Portion of VRA Bonds" means the portion of the Related Series of VRA
Bonds allocable to the Local Bond (as determined by VRA), including any bonds issued by VRA
to refund such Related Series of VRA Bonds in whole or in part.



"Related Series of VRA Bonds™ means the Virginia Resources Authority Infrastructure
and State Moral Obligation Revenue Bonds (Virginia Pooled Financing Program), Series 2024A
(or such other series of Infrastructure and State Moral Obligation Revenue Bonds (Virginia
Pooled Financing Program) that is specified in Schedule 1.1), in the original aggregate principal
amount set forth in Schedule 1.1, and, unless the Local Government receives notice to the
contrary from VRA, any bonds issued by VRA to refund the Related Series of VRA Bonds in
whole or in part.

"Related Supplemental Series Indenture™ means the Fifty-Seventh Supplemental
Series Indenture of Trust dated as of May 1, 2024, between VRA and the Trustee, as modified,
altered, amended and supplemented in accordance with its terms and those of the Master
Indenture.

""Revenue Fund' has the meaning set forth in the Master Indenture.

"Revenues' means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and other income properly
allocable to the System under generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the
Local Government's ownership or operation of the System and all rights to receive the same,
whether now existing or hereafter coming into existence (including amounts appropriated for and
paid to the Local Government by Fluvanna County and Louisa County under the Service
Agreement and the Support Agreements), exclusive of user and other deposits subject to refund
until such deposits have become the Local Government's property, (ii) the proceeds of any
insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money
or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Local Government and (iv) any
other income from other sources now or hereafter pledged or specifically made available by or
on behalf of the Local Government to or for the payment of Operation and Maintenance
Expenses or debt service on Parity Bonds.

""Sale Date™ means May 1, 2024, or such other date specified in Schedule 1.1.

""Service Agreement” means the Service Agreement dated as of April 1, 2015, as
amended by the dated , 2024, each by and among the Local
Government, Fluvanna County and Louisa County, regarding the provision by the Local
Government of raw water from the System to Fluvanna County and Louisa County.

""Subordinate Debt™ means obligations of the Local Government secured by a pledge of
Revenues expressly made subordinate to the pledge securing the Local Bond and any other
Parity Bonds, and any obligations to make deposits related to reserve funds, rebate funds and
similar funds or accounts established for the benefit of the Local Bond or any other Parity Bonds.

"Supplemental Interest' has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.

"Support Agreements”™ means, collectively, the [Amended and Restated Support
Agreement dated as of March 15, 2024], between Fluvanna County, the Local Government and
VRA, and the [Amended and Restated Support Agreement dated as of March 15, 2024], between
Louisa County, the Local Government and VRA.

5-



""System"™ means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property owned operated or
maintained by the Local Government and used in connection with the supply, storage or
distribution of water, as the same may exist from time to time, and shall include the Related
Financed Property.

"Trustee" means U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, Richmond, Virginia,
as trustee under the Master Indenture and the Related Supplemental Series Indenture, or its
successors serving in such capacity.

"Unrestricted™ means, regarding funds of the Local Government as of a particular date,
the use of which (as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) is
not restricted for a purpose inconsistent with the payment of debt service on the Local Bond.

"Virginia SNAP" means the Commonwealth of Virginia State Non-Arbitrage Program.

"VRA'™ means the Virginia Resources Authority, a public body corporate and a political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

"VRA Bonds" means the Related Series of VRA Bonds and any additional bonds issued
under the Master Indenture.

"VRA Reserve" means any one or more of the Capital Reserve Fund, the Infrastructure
Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Operating Reserve Fund, a CRF Credit Facility or an
Infrastructure Revenue DSRF Facility, each as defined in the Master Indenture.

Section 1.2 Rules of Construction. The following rules apply to the construction of
this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise:

@ Singular words connote the plural number as well as the singular and vice
versa.

(b) Words importing the redemption or calling for redemption of the Local
Bond do not refer to or connote the payment of the Local Bond at its stated maturity.

(©) All references in this Agreement to particular Articles, Sections or
Exhibits are references to Articles, Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise
indicated.

(d) The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely
for convenience of reference and do not constitute a part of this Agreement and do not affect its
meaning, construction or effect.

ARTICLE Il
REPRESENTATIONS

Section 2.1  Representations by VRA. VRA represents to the Local Government as
follows:




@) VRA is a duly created and validly existing public body corporate and
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia vested with the rights and powers
conferred upon it under the Act.

(b) VRA has full right, power and authority to (i) issue, sell and deliver the
Related Series of VRA Bonds, (ii) direct the Trustee to use a portion of the proceeds of the
Related Series of VRA Bonds to purchase the Local Bond from the Local Government as
contemplated under the Related Supplemental Series Indenture and this Agreement and
(iii) carry out and consummate all other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(c) VRA has duly authorized, executed and delivered this Agreement, and this
Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of VRA enforceable against VRA in
accordance with its terms.

Section 2.2 Representations by Local Government. The Local Government
represents to VRA as of the Effective Date as follows:

@ The Local Government is a duly created and validly existing Virginia
"local government™ (as defined in Section 62.1-199 of the Act) and is vested with the rights and
powers conferred upon it by Virginia law.

(b)  The Local Government has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the
Local Authorization and execute and deliver the Local Bond Documents, the Interjurisdictional
Agreement and the Service Agreement and all related documents, (ii) issue and sell the Local
Bond to VRA and deliver the Local Bond to the Trustee, (iii) own and operate the System,
(iv) undertake the Project and (v) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated
by the Local Authorization, the Local Bond and the Local Bond Documents, the
Interjurisdictional Agreement and the Service Agreement.

(© The Local Authorization authorized the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, and this Agreement is in substantially the same form as presented to the Local
Government's governing body at its meeting at which the Local Authorization was adopted. The
Local Authorization was filed in the Circuit Court of the County of Louisa, Virginia, on March
__,2024, and the Circuit Court of the County of Fluvanna, Virginia, on March ___, 2024.

(d) The Local Government has obtained all governmental permits, licenses,
registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained for the
Local Government's (i) adoption of the Local Authorization, (ii) execution and delivery of the
Local Bond Documents and the Local Bond, the Interjurisdictional Agreement and the Service
Agreement, (iii) performance of its obligations under the Local Bond Documents and the Local
Bond, the Interjurisdictional Agreement and the Service Agreement, (iv) the undertaking of the
Project and (v) the operation and use of the System. The Local Government knows of no reason
why any such required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations
or approvals not required to be obtained by the Effective Date cannot be obtained as required in
the future.



(e) The Local Government has executed and delivered this Agreement, and
this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Local Government
enforceable against the Local Government in accordance with its terms.

()] When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Authorization
and this Agreement, the Local Bond will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized
officials of the Local Government and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited
obligation of the Local Government enforceable against the Local Government in accordance
with its terms.

(9) The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of the
Local Bond Documents, the Interjurisdictional Agreement and the Service Agreement and the
performance by the Local Government of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the
Local Government and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i)
to the best of the Local Government's knowledge, any federal, or Virginia constitutional or
statutory provision, including the Local Government's charter or articles of incorporation, if any,
(i) any agreement or other instrument to which the Local Government is a party or by which it is
bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree or ordinance of any court, government or
governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Local Government or its property.

(h) The Local Government is not in default in the payment of the principal of
or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any
instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.
No event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions
of any such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which,
with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder.

Q) The Local Government (i)to the best of the Local Government's
knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way
that would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its
obligations under the Local Bond, the Local Bond Documents, the Interjurisdictional Agreement
or the Service Agreement and (ii) is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust,
lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of
any kind to which the Local Government is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its
assets is subject that would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability
to perform its obligations under the Local Bond and the Local Bond Documents, the
Interjurisdictional Agreement and the Service Agreement. The Local Government's execution
and delivery of the Local Bond and the Local Bond Documents, the Interjurisdictional
Agreement and the Service Agreement and its compliance with the terms and conditions thereof
will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the foregoing.

() The Local Government reasonably expects that, unless otherwise
permitted by the terms of the Local Bond Documents or approved by VRA, the Local
Government will own, operate and control the Related Financed Property and the rest of the
System at all times during the term of the Local Bond.



(K) Except as set forth in Exhibit C, no litigation has been served upon the
Local Government, nor, to the best of the Local Government's knowledge, are there pending or
threatened against the Local Government, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a
legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation,
organization or existence of the Local Government or the title of its officers to their respective
offices, (ii) seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or
performance of the Local Authorization, the Local Bond Documents, the Interjurisdictional
Agreement or the Service Agreement or the issuance or delivery of the Local Bond, (iii) in any
way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Local Bond, the Local
Authorization, the Local Bond Documents, the Interjurisdictional Agreement or the Service
Agreement or any agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a
judgment, order or resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Local Government or its
business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to
perform its obligations under the Local Authorization, the Local Bond Documents, the
Interjurisdictional Agreement or the Service Agreement or the Local Bond or (v) affecting the
Project.

Q) The financial statements, applications and other information that the Local
Government furnished to VRA in connection with this Agreement fairly and accurately portray
the Local Government's financial condition as of their dates, and there has been no material
adverse change in the financial condition of the Local Government since the date of the financial
statements provided to VRA in connection with this Agreement.

(m)  Nothing that would constitute an Event of Default hereunder has occurred
and is continuing, and no event or condition exists that with the passage of time or the giving of
notice, or both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder.

(n) A list of all Parity Bonds that are outstanding on the date of this
Agreement is attached as Exhibit J (the "Existing Parity Bonds").

(o) Except for the Existing Parity Bonds, there is no indebtedness of the Local
Government secured by a pledge of Revenues prior to or on a parity with the lien of the pledge
of Revenues that secures the Local Bond.

Section 2.3  Representations Remade as of the Sale Date. (a) It shall be a condition
precedent of VRA's obligation to sell the Related Series of VRA Bonds that the Local
Government's representations and warranties set forth in Section 2.2 be true and accurate in all
respects on the Sale Date.

(b) If prior to the Sale Date, any representation or warranty set forth in
Section 2.2 becomes untrue or inaccurate, then the Local Government shall notify VRA within
one Business Day of becoming aware of such facts, and VRA, in its sole and absolute discretion,
shall determine whether to sell VRA Bonds on behalf of the Local Government, which series of
VRA Bonds (if any) to sell on behalf of the Local Government and any additional conditions
precedent to the sale of such VRA Bonds or the purchase of the Local Bond.



ARTICLE Il
PURCHASE OF THE LOCAL BOND

Section 3.1  Purchase of the Local Bond. (a) Subject to the terms and conditions and
in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements set forth or incorporated herein,
VRA shall purchase, solely from the proceeds of the Related Series of VRA Bonds, all, but not
less than all, of the Local Bond from the Local Government, and the Local Government shall,
subject to the Financing Parameters, sell and deliver to VRA the Local Bond for the Purchase
Price. The Local Government acknowledges that the Purchase Price is determined by VRA, is
subject to VRA's Purchase Price Objective (as defined below) and market conditions as
described below, and is expected to be substantially equal to the Proceeds Requested. The Local
Government shall issue the Local Bond pursuant to the Local Authorization and in substantially
the form of Exhibit A to this Agreement. As a condition of VRA entering into this Agreement,
the Local Government shall deliver to VRA a copy of the Local Authorization as adopted prior
to the date hereof.

(b) The Local Government acknowledges that VRA has advised the Local
Government that its objective is to pay the Local Government the Purchase Price for its Local
Bond which in VRA's judgment reflects the market value of the Local Bond ("Purchase Price
Obijective™), taking into consideration the Financing Parameters, the purchase price received by
VRA for the Related Series of VRA Bonds, the underwriters' discount and other issuance costs
of the Related Series of VRA Bonds and other market conditions relating to the sale of the
Related Series of VRA Bonds. The Local Government further acknowledges that VRA has
advised it that such factors may result in the Local Bond having a value other than par and that in
order to receive an amount of proceeds that is substantially equal to the Proceeds Requested, the
Local Government may need to issue the Local Bond with a par amount that is greater or less
than the Proceeds Requested. The Local Government shall not issue the Local Bond if doing so
would violate any Financing Parameter. Subject to the preceding sentence, the Local
Government shall issue the Local Bond at a par amount that provides to the fullest extent
practicable given VRA's Purchase Price Objective, a Purchase Price at least equal to the
Proceeds Requested, all in accordance with the Local Authorization. The Local Government
acknowledges that the Purchase Price will be less than the Proceeds Requested if any Financing
Parameter prevents VRA from generating a Purchase Price substantially equal to the Proceeds
Requested, based upon VRA's Purchase Price Objective.

Section 3.2  Issuance Expenses. VRA shall pay, or cause to be paid, from the
proceeds of the Related Series of VRA Bonds all expenses incident to the performance of VRA's
obligations under and the fulfillment of the conditions imposed by this Agreement in connection
with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Related Series of VRA Bonds and the purchase of the
Local Bond on the Closing Date, including, but not limited to: (i) the cost, if any, of preparing
and delivering the Related Series of VRA Bonds; (ii) the cost of preparing, printing and
delivering the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement for the Related Series of
VRA Bonds and any amendment or supplement thereto; (iii) the fees and expenses of the
financial advisor(s) and bond counsel to VRA,; and (iv) all other costs and expenses incurred by
VRA. The Local Government shall pay all expenses of the Local Government incident to the
issuance, sale and delivery of the Local Bond, including, but not limited to the fees and

-10-



disbursements of the financial advisor, counsel and bond counsel to the Local Government from
the Purchase Price or other funds of the Local Government.

Section 3.3 Schedule 1.1. VRA shall complete Schedule 1.1, which shall set forth,
among other things, the principal amount, interest rates, payment schedule and Purchase Price
with respect to the Local Bond and the principal amount of the Related Series of VRA Bonds on
or after the Sale Date. VRA shall deliver the completed Schedule 1.1 to the Local Government
and shall attach Schedule 1.1 to this Agreement. Upon delivery to the Local Government, the
completed Schedule 1.1 shall become a part of this Agreement the same as if it were a part
hereof on the Effective Date.

Section 3.4  Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond. VRA shall not
be required to cause the Trustee to purchase the Local Bond unless:

@ VRA has received the following, all in form and substance satisfactory to
VRA:

1) Certified copies of the Local Authorization and all other
ordinances and resolutions of the Local Government relating to the Local Bond
Documents and the Local Bond, if any.

(2) A certificate of the appropriate officials of the Local Government
dated the Closing Date as to the matters set forth in Section 2.2 and Section 2.3 (to the
extent applicable), including appropriate certifications regarding the Local Bond
Documents, and such other matters as VRA may reasonably require.

3) Evidence that the Local Government has performed and satisfied
all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and satisfied
by it as of such date.

4) An opinion of counsel to the Local Government in substantially the
form attached as Exhibit F.

(5) An opinion of bond counsel to the Local Government in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to VRA.

(6) Evidence that the Local Government has complied with the
insurance provisions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2.

@) The executed Local Bond and original executed counterparts of the
Local Tax Document.

(8) A certificate of the Outside Engineer giving the Outside Engineer's
estimate of the construction portion of the total Project Costs to be financed with the
proceeds of the Local Bond, which estimate must be in an amount and otherwise
compatible with the financing plan described in the Project Budget.

-11-



9) A certificate of the Outside Engineer (i) to the effect that the
Purchase Price and funds available from the other sources specified in the Project Budget
will be sufficient to pay the construction portion of the estimated Project Costs and
(ii) specifying the date the Local Government is expected to complete the Project.

(10) A certificate of the Outside Engineer to the effect that the Related
Financed Property will be part of the System.

(11) A certificate of an Outside Engineer or a Qualified Independent
Consultant, including supporting documentation, to the effect that during the first two
complete Fiscal Years following the estimated completion date of the Project, the
projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will satisfy the Local Government's
rate covenant under Section 5.2(a). In providing this certificate, the Outside Engineer or
Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future System rate
increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the Local
Government's governing body and any other person or entity required to give approval
for the rate increase to become effective. In addition, the Outside Engineer or Qualified
Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues to be
derived under existing contractual arrangements entered into by the Local Government
and from reasonable estimates of growth in the Local Government's consumer base.

(12) A certificate of the Outside Engineer to the effect that (i) all
governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals
for the undertaking of the Project, as enumerated in the certificate, and the operation and
use of the System required to have been obtained as of the Closing Date have been
obtained and (ii) the Outside Engineer knows of no reason why any such required
governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals
for the undertaking of the Project, as enumerated in the certificate, and the operation and
use of the System cannot be obtained as required in the future.

(13) Evidence that the Local Government is in compliance with the
construction contract provisions set forth in Section 4.4 with respect to any existing
contracts as of the Closing Date.

(14)  Certified copies of the resolutions adopted by the governing bodies
of Fluvanna County and Louisa County on March _ , 2024 and March __ , 2024,
respectively, relating to the Support Agreements.

(15) Evidence that the Local Government has satisfied all conditions
precedent to the issuance of the Local Bond as a "Parity Bond" under the financing
documents for the Existing Parity Bonds.

(16)  Certified copies of the executed Interjurisdictional Agreement and
the Service Agreement.

-12-



(17)  Prior to the Sale Date, the Local Government shall certify to VRA
that the Local Government has obtained all permits, consents and approvals required by
local, state or federal laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection
with the Project, including, but not limited to permits required from the Virginia
Department of Environmental Quality, including the Virginia Water Protection Permit(s),
Section 401 Clean Water Act certifications, construction general permits and permits
required from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and provide to VRA evidence
satisfactory to VRA of all such permits, consents and approvals.

(18)  Prior to the Sale Date, the Local Government shall (i) certify to
VRA that the Local Government has obtained all easements required for the undertaking
of the Project and provide to VRA evidence satisfactory to VRA of all such easements, or
(i) an opinion of counsel to the Local Government and satisfactory to VRA that
indicates that the Local Government may obtain all easements required for the
undertaking of the Project through condemnation or eminent domain with no material
adverse impact to the construction schedule for the Project.

(19) Prior to the Sale Date, in addition to the evidence of easements
described in Section 3.14(a)(18), the Local Government shall provide evidence of the
acquisition of the real property necessary for the Project. Such evidence may be in the
form of a fully executed purchase agreement between the Local Government and the
owner of such real property.

(20)  Prior to the Sale Date, the Local Government shall provide to VRA
(i) evidence satisfactory to VRA that the Local Government has purchased any and all
required wetland mitigation credits, stream mitigation credits and nutrient mitigation
credits related to the Project and (ii) a certificate of the Outside Engineer that indicates
the types and amounts of such credits required for the Project and confirms that the
credits purchased by the Local Government meet or exceed such requirements.

(21)  Prior to the Sale Date, the Local Government shall provide to VRA
a certificate signed by the Chair of the Local Government, indicating the Local
Government's plan to ensure compliance with the annual audit requirements provided in
Section 9.3 hereof.

(22)  Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as VRA may
reasonably require as set forth in Schedule 1.1.

(b) The initial purchasers of the Related Series of VRA Bonds have paid in
full and VRA has accepted the purchase price for the Related Series of VRA Bonds on the
Closing Date. It is understood that the sole source of funds to pay the Purchase Price is a portion
of the proceeds of the Related Series of VRA Bonds.

-13-



ARTICLE IV
USE OF PURCHASE PRICE

Section 4.1  Deposit of Purchase Price; Investment of Amounts in Local Account.
(@ On the Closing Date, VRA shall cause the Trustee to deposit the Purchase Price into the
Local Account and to apply the Purchase Price and the earnings thereon as set forth in the
Related Supplemental Series Indenture, this Agreement and the Local Tax Document.

(b) The Local Government acknowledges and consents to the investment of
the Purchase Price and the earnings thereon in Virginia SNAP.

Section 4.2  Agreement to Accomplish Project. (a) The Local Government shall
cause the Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated, equipped or financed as
described in Exhibit B and in accordance with the Project Budget, this Agreement, the Local Tax
Document and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by the Consulting Engineer and
approved by the Local Government. The Local Government shall use its best efforts to
complete, or cause to be completed, the Project by the date set forth in the certificate delivered
under Section 3.4(a)(9). The Local Government shall obtain the approval of all applicable
regulatory agencies of all plans, specifications and designs for the Project. The Local
Government shall maintain complete and accurate books and records of the Project Costs and
permit VRA or the Trustee through their representatives to inspect such books and records at any
reasonable time.

(b) If requested by VRA, upon completion of the Project, the Local
Government shall promptly deliver to VRA and the Trustee a certificate signed by a Local
Representative and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed
substantially in accordance with this Article and in substantial compliance with all material
applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion and (iii) that
all certificates of occupancy or other material permits then necessary for the use, occupancy and
operation of the Related Financed Property have been issued or obtained. Such certificate shall
be accompanied by a copy of the final requisition submitted to the Trustee pursuant to Section
4.3, including Schedule 1 thereto.

(©) If upon completion of the Project and payment of all related costs of
issuance, there is a balance remaining in the Local Account, the Trustee shall apply any
remaining balance at the direction of the Local Government for previously paid interest on the
Local Bond or in such other manner that is permitted under the Act; provided that VRA shall be
reasonably assured that such application will not have an adverse effect on the tax status of the
Related Series of VRA Bonds.

Section 4.3  Disbursement of Purchase Price and Earnings. Except as provided in
Section 4.2(c), the Local Government shall apply the amounts in the Local Account solely and
exclusively to the payment or reimbursement of the Local Government for the Project Costs.
Not more frequently than once per calendar month, the Trustee shall disburse amounts from the
Local Account to the Local Government or as directed by the Local Government upon the
Trustee's receipt of the following:

-14-



@) A requisition (upon which the Trustee and VRA shall be entitled to rely)
signed by a Local Representative and containing all information called for by, and otherwise
being in the form of, Exhibit D (including the Schedules thereto).

(b) Receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale or other evidence of payment
of the related Project Costs.

(© If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors,
builders or materialmen:

1) a certificate, signed by a Consulting Engineer, stating that such
work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually
furnished or installed in or about the construction of the Project; and

2 a certificate, signed by a Consulting Engineer (that may rely on
representations of counsel or a title insurance agency reasonably acceptable to VRA),
stating that no notice of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the
right to receive payment of, any of the money payable under the requisition to any of the
persons, firms or corporations named in it has been received, or if any notice of any such
lien, attachment or claim has been received, such lien, attachment or claim has been
released or discharged or will be released or discharged upon payment of the requisition.

(d) If any requisition includes an item for payment of the cost of acquisition
of any lands or easements, or any rights or interests in or relating to lands, there shall also be
attached to such requisition:

1) a certificate, signed by a Consulting Engineer, stating that such
lands, easements, rights or interests are being acquired and are necessary or convenient
for the construction of the Project; and

(2 a certificate, signed by a Consulting Engineer (that may rely on
representations of counsel or a title insurance agency reasonably acceptable to VRA),
stating that upon payment therefor the Local Government will have title in fee simple to,
or easements, rights or interests sufficient for the purposes of, the Project over and
through the subject lands.

Following VRA's approval of each such requisition and accompanying invoice(s) and
certificate(s), which approval will not unreasonably be withheld, the Trustee shall pay the
requisition from the Local Account in accordance with the instructions in such requisition.

The Local Government agrees that any amounts disbursed to it or for its account
from the Local Account pursuant to this Section 4.3 will be (i) immediately applied to
reimburse the Local Government for Project Costs it has already paid or (ii) actually spent
to pay Project Costs not later than five banking days after receipt.

Section 4.4  Construction Contractors. The Local Government shall cause each
general construction contractor employed in the accomplishment of the Project to furnish a

-15-



performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to 100% of the particular
contract price. Such bonds must list the Local Government, VRA and the Trustee as
beneficiaries. Neither VRA nor the Trustee shall make any claims or exercise any rights under
such bonds unless and until an Event of Default occurs. The Local Government shall cause each
contractor to maintain during the construction period covered by the particular construction
contract builder's risk insurance, workmen's compensation insurance, public liability insurance,
property damage insurance and vehicle liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory
to the Consulting Engineer.

Section 4.5 Disclaimer of Warranty. The Project is being undertaken at the Local
Government's request and by the Local Government. VRA MAKES NO REPRESENTATION
OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR [IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE
MERCHANTABILITY, CONDITION OR FITNESS OF THE PROJECT OR OF THE
RELATED FINANCED PROPERTY FOR THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S PURPOSES.

Section 4.6 No_Sufficiency Warranty by VRA; Local Government Required to
Complete Project. VRA makes no warranty, either express or implied, that the Purchase Price
will be sufficient to pay all or any particular portion of the Project Costs. If the Purchase Price is
not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Local Government shall complete the
Project at its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from VRA or
any abatement, diminution or postponement of its payments under the Local Bond or this
Agreement.

ARTICLE V
PLEDGE AND SECURITY

Section 5.1  Pledge. Subject to the Local Government's right to apply Revenues to the
payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses, the Revenues are hereby pledged to secure the
payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Local Bond and the payment
and performance of the Local Government's obligations under this Agreement on a parity with
any Parity Bonds. This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the Closing Date. The
Revenues, as received by the Local Government, shall immediately be subject to the lien of this
pledge without any physical delivery of them or further act. Except as stated above, the lien of
this pledge shall have priority over all other obligations and liabilities of the Local Government
payable from Revenues, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding against all parties
having claims of any kind against the Local Government regardless of whether such parties have
notice of this pledge. Until the occurrence and continuation of an Event of Default, the Local
Government may, after the application each month of Revenues to the payment of the Operation
and Maintenance Expenses and debt service on the Local Bond and any other Parity Bonds, use
the Revenues for any lawful purpose.

Section 5.2 Rate Covenant. (a) The Local Government shall fix and collect rates,
fees and other charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by its System,
and will from time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year
the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required

-16-



during the Fiscal Year to pay the principal of and interest on the Local Bond and all other Parity
Bonds.

(b) If, for any reason, the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service are
insufficient to satisfy the covenant set forth in subsection (a), the Local Government shall (i) on
its demand, pay to VRA a rate maintenance penalty in the amount of $5,000, and (ii) within 90
days adjust and increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance
Expenses so as to provide sufficient Net Revenues Available for Debt Service to satisfy such
requirement.

(c) On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Local Government shall
review the adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such
review indicates the Local Government's rates, fees and other charges will be insufficient to
satisfy the rate covenant in subsection (a), the Local Government shall promptly increase its
rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance Expenses to cure any
deficiency.

Section 5.3  Annual Budget of the System. Not less than 15 days before the first day
of each Fiscal Year, the Local Government shall submit to its governing body and to VRA a
copy of a preliminary annual budget, containing all information called for by, and otherwise
being in the form of, Exhibit | to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of
the rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Local Government, the Revenues
estimated to be generated thereby and the expenditures anticipated by the Local Government for
operations, maintenance, repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes.
The Local Government shall adopt, prior to the first day of each Fiscal Year, a budget for such
Fiscal Year. The Local Government shall ensure that the adopted budget contains the
information required to be included in the preliminary budget. Such budget as approved by the
Local Government's governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget. The
Local Government may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such
Fiscal Year so long as such amendment does not result in an Event of Default. The Local
Government shall promptly submit to VRA, in an electronic format, a copy of the Annual
Budget and any amendments thereto.

Section 5.4  Qualified Independent Consultant's Report. (a) If at the end of any
Fiscal Year, the Local Government is not in compliance with the rate covenant made by the
Local Government in Section 5.2(a), within 210 days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Local
Government shall obtain a report from the Qualified Independent Consultant. The Local
Government shall ensure that the report gives advice and makes recommendations as to the
proper maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System for the next ensuing Fiscal
Year and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other charges which should be
established by the Local Government to satisfy the rate covenant in Section 5.2(a). The Local
Government shall promptly furnish a copy of such report to VRA and, subject to Section 5.4(b),
take measures to implement the recommendations of the Qualified Independent Consultant
within 90 days of obtaining such report.

-17-



(b) If the Local Government determines that the Qualified Independent
Consultant's recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Local Government may in
lieu thereof adopt other procedures which the Local Government believes will bring it into
compliance with the rate covenant made by the Local Government in Section 5.2(a) when such
measures have been implemented and become fully effective. Such alternative plan shall be
filed with VRA not later than 30 days after receipt of the Qualified Independent Consultant's
report along with a detailed explanation of the Local Government's reason for rejecting the
Qualified Independent Consultant's recommendations. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, VRA reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such alternate procedures and, to
the extent permitted by law, require the Local Government to comply with the Qualified
Independent Consultant's recommendations.

Section 5.5  Local Debt Service Reserve Fund. (a) The Trustee is hereby directed to
establish a "James River Water Authority 2024A Debt Service Reserve Fund" (the "Local Debt
Service Reserve Fund") for the benefit of VRA, to be held in accordance with Section 10.1 of the
Master Indenture and separate and apart from the funds established under the Master Indenture.
On the Closing Date, the Local Government shall deposit the Local Reserve Requirement into
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund.

(b) Money in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be used solely to
cure any deficiencies in the payment by the Local Government of principal of, premium if any,
or interest on the Local Bond pursuant to Section 6.1(a)(1). If there is a deficiency in the amount
of such payment, the Trustee shall transfer the amount of the deficiency from the amount, if any,
on deposit in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund to the Revenue Fund established under the
Master Indenture. The Trustee shall notify VRA and the Local Government of the transfer
within one Business Day of the transfer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such transfer from
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund shall relieve the Local Government of its obligation to
make the payments of principal of or premium, if any, and interest on the Local Bond due under
this Agreement.

(© On each Local Reserve Fund Determination Date, or at any other time as
may be requested by VRA or the Local Government, the Trustee shall determine if the balance
on deposit in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund is at least equal to the Local Reserve
Requirement. In making each such determination, the Trustee shall value obligations on deposit
in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund at par; provided, however, any securities purchased at a
purchase price of less than 98% of par or in excess of 102% of par shall be valued at fair market
value. If on any Local Reserve Fund Determination Date there exists a deficiency in the Local
Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Trustee shall notify VRA and the Local Government of such fact
and the amount of the deficiency within one Business Day of such determination, and, if such
deficiency shall continue to exist, VRA's Executive Director shall notify the Local Government
that an Event of Default has occurred pursuant to Section 10.1 of this Agreement. In
determining whether a deficiency continues to exist, the Executive Director of VRA shall not
take into account any deficiency resulting from the valuation by the Trustee of the obligations in
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund so long as the Local Government has not defaulted in
making payments to replenish the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund under Section 6.1(a)(6).

-18-



(d) If on any Local Reserve Fund Determination Date there exists a surplus in
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Trustee shall transfer such surplus to the Revenue
Fund established under the Master Indenture and credit such transfer to the Local Government's
next succeeding principal, premium, if any, or interest payments on the Local Bond; provided,
however, that if on any Local Reserve Fund Determination Date there exists or will exist a
surplus in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund as the result of the payment at maturity or upon
redemption, defeasance or prepayment under Section 6.2 of a portion of the Local Bond on or as
of such Local Reserve Fund Determination Date, then the Trustee shall apply such surplus at the
written direction of the Local Government provided to VRA and the Trustee; provided that VRA
shall be reasonably assured that such application will not have an adverse effect on the tax status
of the Related Series of VRA Bonds.

(e The Local Government shall replenish the Local Debt Service Reserve
Fund pursuant to Section 6.1(a)(6).

()] Any amount held in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be
invested and reinvested by the Trustee, at the request of and as directed in writing by a Local
Representative, in (i) bonds, bills, notes and any other obligation or security issued or backed by
the full faith and credit of the United States Treasury, (ii) bonds, notes and other obligations
issued by any federal government agency or instrumentality or government sponsored enterprise
except for collateralized mortgage obligations or (iii) investments provided under the Virginia
SNAP. The final maturity of such securities shall not exceed a period of 10 years from the time
of purchase or shall be subject to redemption at the option of the Trustee or the Local
Government no later than 10 years from the time of purchase.

(@)  The Trustee shall transfer any interest earned on the investment of money
in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund to the Revenue Fund to be credited against the next debt
service payment on the Local Bond to the extent that such transfer will not cause the balance in
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund to be less than the Local Reserve Requirement.

Section 5.6  Minimum Enterprise Fund Balance. In addition to the Revenues and
the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund securing the Local Bond as set forth in this Agreement, the
Local Government shall maintain in its Enterprise Fund a balance of unrestricted cash and
investments of not less than 60 days of annual budgeted operating expenses for the then-current
Fiscal Year. For purposes of this covenant, the balance of unrestricted cash and investments will
be measured on each June 1. VRA represents that such amount of unrestricted cash and
investments does not exceed the reasonable needs for which it is maintained and the amount may
be spent for any lawful purpose without restriction so long as it is replenished to the required
level by the next measurement date. The requirement set forth in this section will not apply
during any Fiscal Year for which the Local Government provides to VRA evidence that all of the
Local Government's budgeted operating expenses have been included in the annual budgets
adopted by the governing bodies of Fluvanna County and Louisa County.

Section 5.7 Limitation_ on_Amendments to Certain_Documents. Neither of the
Support Agreements, nor the Service Agreement nor the Interjurisdictional Agreement may be

-19-



terminated, permitted to lapse, modified, altered, amended or supplemented in whole or in part
without VRA's prior written consent.

ARTICLE VI
PAYMENT AND REDEMPTION OF LOCAL BOND

Section 6.1 Payment of Local Bond and Related Amounts. (a) Until the principal
of and premium, if any, and interest on the Local Bond and all other amounts payable under this
Agreement have been paid in full, the Local Government shall pay from the Revenues to the
Trustee or VRA, as applicable, the following amounts:

1) to the Trustee, the amounts required by the Local Bond on such
dates and in such manner as provided for in the Local Bond — the term "interest," as used
in the Local Bond and this Agreement, includes Supplemental Interest, when and if
payable;

2 to the Trustee, or to VRA, no later than 15 days after VRA
provides notice to the Local Government, any amounts payable under the Local Tax
Document, including without limitation the costs of any rebate calculation agent;

3) to VRA, on its demand, a late payment penalty in an amount equal
to 5.0% of the payment on the Local Bond not paid within 5 days after its due date;

4) to the Trustee, the Local Government's share (as determined by
VRA) of the annual fees and expenses of the Trustee, less the Local Government's share
of the net earnings on the Revenue Fund, Infrastructure Revenue Debt Service Fund and
Moral Obligation Debt Service Fund established under the Master Indenture (as
determined by VRA), and the Local Government shall pay such amounts no later than 15
days after VRA or the Trustee sends to the Local Government a written bill for them;

(5) to VRA, to the extent permitted by law, the reasonable costs and
expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, if any, incurred by VRA in connection
with (i) an Event of Default or default by the Local Government under this Agreement
(if) any amendment to or discretionary action that VRA undertakes at the request of the
Local Government under this Agreement, any other document related to the Related
Series of VRA Bonds or the Local Bond or (iii) any claim, lawsuit or other challenge to
the Local Bond, the VRA Bonds or this Agreement that arises, at least in part, out of the
Local Government's authorization of its issuance of the Local Bond, and the Local
Government shall pay such amounts no later than 15 days after VRA or the Trustee sends
to the Local Government a written bill for them; and

(6) to the Trustee, an amount equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the amount of
any deficiency in the amount on deposit in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund as
determined by the Trustee on the immediately preceding Local Reserve Fund
Determination Date any deficiency in the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund, on the first
day of each month after such default in payments until the deficiency is eliminated.

-20-



(b) If any failure of the Local Government to pay all or any portion of any
required payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Local Bond results in a
withdrawal from or a drawing on any VRA Reserve, the interest rates applicable to the Local
Bond shall be increased to interest rates sufficient to reimburse the VRA Reserve for any
foregone investment earnings on the funds withdrawn therefrom and pay any interest, fees or
penalties assessed as a result of the withdrawal from or drawing on the VRA Reserve. The
increment of interest payable pursuant to the increase in rates shall be referred to as
"Supplemental Interest.” The Local Government's obligation to pay Supplemental Interest shall
commence on the date of the withdrawal or drawing of funds from the VRA Reserve occasioned
by the Local Government's failure to pay a required payment or portion thereof as described
above (the "Supplemental Interest Commencement Date™). The Local Government's obligation
to pay Supplemental Interest shall terminate on the date on which the Local Government makes
all payments required but outstanding since the date of the initial failure to pay (the
"Supplemental Interest Termination Date™). From the Supplemental Interest Commencement
Date to the Supplemental Interest Termination Date, Supplemental Interest shall be due and
payable on the regularly scheduled interest payment dates provided for in the Local Bond. As
soon as reasonably possible after the Supplemental Interest Commencement Date and before the
next regularly scheduled interest payment date provided for in the Local Bond, VRA shall
deliver to the Local Government a certificate as to the increase in interest rates and the amount of
Supplemental Interest. The certificate shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for the
increase in interest rates and the manner of calculation of the increase and the amount of
Supplemental Interest. Such certificate shall be conclusive (absent manifest error) as to the
interest rate increase and amount of Supplemental Interest set forth therein. In determining the
interest rate increase and the amount of Supplemental Interest, VRA may use any reasonable
averaging and attribution methods.

(© The Local Government shall pay the amounts described above and make
payments as scheduled under the Local Bond without any credit for any amount being withdrawn
from or drawn on a VRA Reserve pursuant to the Master Indenture.

Section 6.2  Defeasance and Redemption of Local Bond. (a) The Local Government
shall not defease or redeem the Local Bond (in whole or in part), except as provided in this
Section 6.2.

(b) The Local Government shall satisfy the following conditions prior to the
defeasance and redemption of the Local Bond:

Q) The Local Government shall provide to VRA not less than 60 days'
prior written notice of the deposit of the funds described in (2), (3) and (4) below.

2 The Local Government shall deposit with the Trustee an amount
sufficient for VRA to establish an escrow of cash and non-callable, non-prepayable
Government Obligations the principal of and interest on which will be sufficient (without
reinvestment) to cause the defeasance under Article XII of the Master Indenture of the
portion of the Related Portion of VRA Bonds corresponding to the portion of the Local
Bond to be defeased or prepaid (the "Allocated Portion™). The defeasance of the

-21-



Allocated Portion may be either to maturity or an earlier redemption date as determined
by the Local Government.

3 The Local Government shall deposit with VRA cash in an amount
sufficient, as determined by VRA, to pay for a verification report required for the
defeasance of the Allocated Portion under Article XII of the Master Indenture, any costs
incurred by VRA in connection with the redemption, refunding and defeasance of the
Allocated Portion, all amounts overdue or then due on the Local Bond (including,
without limitation, any Supplemental Interest) and all amounts overdue, due or to become
due under Section 6.1(a) of this Agreement.

4) The Local Government shall deposit with VRA cash in an amount
equal to the present value of interest that would be paid on the principal of the Allocated
Portion at a rate equal to 0.125%, payable semiannually, to the maturity dates of the
Allocated Portion or, if earlier, the redemption date or dates of the Allocated Portion.
Present value shall be determined by using a discount rate equal to the true interest cost
of the Related Portion of VRA Bonds.

(© VRA will determine which Related Portion of VRA Bonds will be
designated as the Allocated Portion and the amounts to be deposited under subsection (b)(2) and
(3) above using such reasonable allocation and estimation methods as may be selected by VRA
and VRA's determinations shall be conclusive (absent manifest error).

(d) The Local Government acknowledges that no funds in any VRA Reserve
will be available to the Local Government for the defeasance or redemption of the Local Bond.

Section 6.3  Payments and Rights Assigned. The Local Government hereby consents
to VRA's assignment to the Trustee of VRA's rights under this Agreement and the Local Bond.
The Local Government also hereby acknowledges and consents to the reservation by VRA of the
right and license to enjoy and enforce VRA's rights under the Local Bond and this Agreement so
long as no Event of Default (as defined in the Master Indenture) with respect to the Related
Series of VRA Bonds has occurred and is continuing. Even though VRA will be the registered
owner of the Local Bond, the Local Government shall pay directly to the Trustee all amounts
payable by the Local Government under the Local Bond and this Agreement (except for those
amounts specifically indicated as payable to VRA under Section 6.1 or Section 11.8, which the
Local Government shall pay directly to VRA).

Section 6.4  Obligations Absolute and Unconditional. The obligation of the Local
Government to make the payments required by the Local Bond and this Agreement from the
sources pledged therefor shall be absolute and unconditional. The Local Government shall pay
all such amounts without abatement, diminution or deduction (whether for taxes or otherwise)
regardless of any cause or circumstance whatsoever including, without limitation, any defense,
set-off, recoupment or counterclaim that the Local Government may have or assert against VRA,
the Trustee or any other person.

-22-



ARTICLE VII
OPERATION AND USE COVENANTS

Section 7.1  Operation and Maintenance. At its own cost and expense the Local
Government shall operate the System in a proper, sound and economical manner in compliance
with all legal requirements and shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition
and from time to time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.

Section 7.2  Additions and Modifications. At its own expense the Local Government
from time to time may make any renewals, replacements, additions, modifications or
improvements to the System that the Local Government deems desirable, provided that any such
renewal, replacement, addition, modification or improvement does not (i) materially reduce the
value of the System, or (ii) negatively affect the structural or operational integrity of any part of
the System. The Local Government shall ensure that all such renewals, replacements, additions,
modifications or improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules,
regulations, orders, permits, authorizations and requirements. All such renewals, replacements,
additions, modifications and improvements shall become part of the System.

Section 7.3  Permits. The Local Government shall, at its sole cost and expense, obtain
all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, ordinances, rules,
regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping,
occupation, operation or use of the System. The Local Government shall, upon request,
promptly furnish to VRA and the Trustee copies of all such permits, consents and approvals.

Section 7.4  Use. The Local Government shall comply with all lawful requirements of
any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently
enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental
policy or requiring structural, operational or other changes to the System, irrespective of the cost
of making the same.

Section 7.5  Inspection and Local Government's Books and Records. The Local
Government shall permit VRA, the Trustee and their duly authorized representatives and agents
such reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the
Local Government is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement, and the Local
Government shall permit such parties, at all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to
the Local Government, to examine and copy the Local Government's books and records that
relate to the System. The Local Government shall provide copies to VRA of all documents filed
with the Trustee and the Trutsee shall provide copies to VRA of all documents filed with the
Local Government.

Section 7.6 Ownership. The Local Government shall not construct, reconstruct or
install any part of the System on (i) lands other than those which the Local Government owns or
can acquire title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Local
Government's purposes or (ii) lands in which the Local Government has acquired a right or
interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement, unless (1) such part of the System is
lawfully located in a public street or highway or (2) the Local Government provides a written

-23-



opinion of counsel or a report of a Qualified Independent Consultant, either of which shall be in
a form reasonably acceptable to VRA, that indicates that the lands and the Local Government's
right or interest therein is sufficient for the Local Government's purposes.

Section 7.7  Sale or Encumbrance. No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged,
leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except (i) with the written consent of
VRA or (ii) as provided in any one of the following subsections:

@) The Local Government may grant easements, licenses or permits across,
over or under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the
use of the System.

(b) The Local Government may sell or otherwise dispose of property
constituting part of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary
funds to replace such property with property serving the same or a similar function.

(©) The Local Government may sell or otherwise dispose of property
constituting part of the System with a "book value” (as determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles) that, when combined with the aggregate "book value” of all of
the other such property sold or otherwise disposed of under this subsection during the Fiscal
Year in question, will not cause the aggregate "book value" of all of such property sold or
otherwise disposed of under this subsection in such Fiscal Year to exceed $125,000. The
proceeds to be received from any such sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any
default that may exist in the payment of the principal of or interest on the Local Bond.

(d)  The Local Government may otherwise sell or dispose of property
constituting part of the System if there is filed with VRA a certificate of the Consulting Engineer
stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System. The proceeds
to be received from any such sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that may
exist in the payment of the principal of or interest on the Local Bond.

Section 7.8 Collection of Revenues. The Local Government shall use its best efforts
to collect all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, without limitation, the perfection
of liens on premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other
charges where such action is permitted by law. The Local Government shall, to the full extent
permitted by law, prevent access to the services and facilities of the System to users of the
System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace periods in the payment of rates, fees and
other charges due to the Local Government.

Section 7.9  No Free Service. Except as otherwise required by law and as described
on Exhibit H, the Local Government shall not permit the use of the System, or furnish any
services afforded by the System, without making a charge therefor based on the Local
Government's uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges.

-24-



Section 7.10 No Competing Service. To the extent permitted by law, the Local
Government agrees not to provide, grant any franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else
to provide, any services which would compete with the System.

Section 7.11 Mandatory Connection. To the extent permitted by law, the Local
Government shall adopt and enforce rules and regulations, consistent with applicable laws,
requiring the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may
reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been
constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System,
provided, however, that such rules and regulations may permit the continued use of private water
or sewage disposal systems approved by the applicable board of health or health officer by any
such building already in existence at the time the services of the System become available to it
upon such conditions as may be specified in such rules and regulations or until such time as such
approved private water or sewage disposal system shall cease to be approved or shall require
major repairs to continue to be approved, at which time such building shall be required to
connect to the System.

Section 7.12 Lawful Charges. The Local Government shall pay when due all taxes,
fees, assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively,
the "Governmental Charges") which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the
Local Government's interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and
occupancy of the System. The Local Government shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall
make adequate provision to pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials,
supplies or other objects which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the
System or the Revenues (collectively, the "Mechanics' Charges™). The Local Government,
however, after giving VRA 10 days' notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its
own name, may contest in good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics' Charges. If such
a contest occurs, the Local Government may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period
of the contest and any subsequent appeal unless, in VRA's reasonable opinion, such action may
impair the lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental
Charges or Mechanics' Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the
Trustee or an appropriate court a bond in form and amount satisfactory to VRA. Upon request,
the Local Government shall furnish to VRA proof of payment of all Governmental Charges and
Mechanics' Charges the Local Government is required to pay under this Agreement.

Section 7.13 Engineering Services. The Local Government shall retain or employ a
Consulting Engineer to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System.

ARTICLE VIII
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

Section 8.1 Insurance. The Local Government shall maintain or cause to be

maintained insurance against such risks as are customarily insured against by systems similar in
size and character to the System, including, without limitation:

-25-



@) Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System's
insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended
coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler
leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such
endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the
time in use in Virginia). The determination of replacement cost shall be made, in conjunction
with representatives of the Local Government, by a recognized appraiser or insurer selected by
the Local Government and reasonably acceptable to VRA.

(b) Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit in
an amount sufficient per year (based on recommendations of the Local Government's insurance
carrier) against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and for damage to
property, including loss of its use, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation or use of
the System.

(© Unless the Local Government qualifies as a self-insurer under Virginia
law, worker's compensation insurance.

Neither VRA nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or obligation with respect to
(1) the procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to
policies of insurance or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance.

The Local Government shall provide annually to VRA a certificate or certificates of the
respective insurers evidencing the fact that the insurance required by this Section is in force and
effect.

Section 8.2 Requirements of Policies. The Local Government shall maintain all
insurance required by Section 8.1 with generally recognized responsible insurance companies
selected by the Local Government and reasonably acceptable to VRA. Such insurance may be
written with deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility
systems of like size and character to the System. If the Local Government does not maintain
such insurance with an insurer licensed to do business in Virginia or placed under the
requirements of the Virginia Surplus Lines Insurance Law, Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of
Virginia of 1950, as amended, or any successor statute, the Local Government shall provide
evidence reasonably satisfactory to VRA that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law.

Section 8.3  Notice of Damage, Destruction or Condemnation. In case of (i) any
damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part of the
System or any right in it under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any loss of the
System because of failure of title or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or negotiations
which might result in such a taking or loss, the Local Government shall notify VRA in writing
within ten Business Days of the occurrence describing generally the nature and extent of such
damage, destruction, taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations.

Section 8.4 Damage and Destruction. If all or any part of the System is destroyed or
damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Local Government shall not have exercised its option,

-26-



if such option is available, to redeem the outstanding Local Bond pursuant to Section 6.2, the
Local Government shall restore promptly the property damaged or destroyed to substantially the
same condition as before such damage or destruction, with such alterations and additions as the
Local Government may determine and which will not impair the capacity or character of the
System for the purposes for which it then is being used or is intended to be used. The Local
Government may apply so much as may be necessary of the net proceeds of insurance received
on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such restoration, either
on completion or as the work progresses. If such net proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the
cost of such restoration, the Local Government shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess
of such net proceeds.

Section 8.5 Condemnation and Loss of Title. If title to or the temporary use of all or
any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost
because of failure of title, and the Local Government shall not have exercised its option, if such
option is available, to redeem the outstanding Local Bond pursuant to Section 6.2, the Local
Government shall cause the net proceeds from any such condemnation award or from any title
insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to substantially its condition before the
exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title. If such net proceeds are not
sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Local Government shall pay so much of
the cost as may be in excess of such net proceeds.

ARTICLE IX
SPECIAL COVENANTS

Section 9.1 Tax Covenants. The Local Government shall not directly or indirectly
use or permit the use of any of the proceeds of the Local Bond or any other of its funds, in such
manner as would, or enter into, or allow any other person or entity to enter into, any
arrangement, formal or informal, that would, or take or omit to take any other action that would,
cause interest on any of the Related Series of VRA Bonds to be includable in gross income for
federal income tax purposes or to become a specific item of tax preference for purposes of the
federal alternative minimum tax. Insofar as the Local Tax Document imposes duties and
responsibilities on the Local Government, including the payment of any arbitrage rebate in
respect of the Related Series of VRA Bonds, as of the Closing Date they are specifically
incorporated by reference into this Agreement. The Local Government also consents to the
reasonable calculation of any "rebate amount” to be paid with respect to the Related Portion of
VRA Bonds by a rebate calculation service selected by VRA.

Section 9.2  Maintenance of Existence. The Local Government shall maintain its
existence as a public body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth
of Virginia under Virginia law, and shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially
all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity without VRA's prior written
consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

Section 9.3  Financial Records and Statements. The Local Government shall
maintain proper books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance
with generally accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business

-27-



and affairs. The Local Government shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the
Local Government made by an independent certified public accountant, within 180 days after the
end of each Fiscal Year. The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating
whether the Local Government satisfied the rate covenant set forth in Section 5.2 for such Fiscal
Year. The Local Government shall furnish to VRA, in an electronic format, a copy of such report
immediately after it is accepted by the Local Government. Such report shall include statements in
reasonable detail, certified by such accountant, reflecting the System's financial position as of the
end of such Fiscal Year and the results of the System's operations and changes in the financial
position thereof for the Fiscal Year.

Section 9.4  Certification_as to No Default and Tax Compliance. The Local
Government shall deliver to VRA, within 180 days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a
certification in substantially the form attached as Exhibit G and signed by a Local
Representative.

Section 9.5  Further Assurances. The Local Government shall to the fullest extent
permitted by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts,
deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for
the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights and collateral, if
any, assigned or pledged by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of
this Agreement. The Local Government shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
defend, preserve and protect the pledges made under this Agreement and all rights of VRA under
this Agreement against all claims and demands of all persons, including without limitation the
payment of certain costs of VRA as described in Section 6.1(a)(5).

Section 9.6  Assignment by Local Government. The Local Government shall not
assign its rights and obligations under the Local Bond or this Agreement, or both, without the
prior written consent of VRA.

Section 9.7  Continuing Disclosure. (a) For purposes of this Section 9.7, the
following terms and phrases have the following meanings:

"Annual Financial Information™ with respect to any Fiscal Year for the Local
Government means the following:

Q) the financial statements (consisting of at least a balance
sheet and a statement of revenues and expenses) of the System which financial
statements must be (A) prepared annually in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in effect from time to time consistently applied (provided
that nothing in this clause (A) will prohibit the Local Government after the date of
this Agreement from changing such other principles so as to comply with
generally accepted accounting principles as then in effect or to comply with a
change in applicable law) and (B) audited by an independent certified public
accountant or firm of such accountants in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards as in effect from time to time (provided that if audited financial
statements are not available for filing when required by this Section or the Rule

-28-



(as defined herein), unaudited financial statements will be filed and audited
financial statements will be filed as soon as possible thereafter); and

(i) operating data of the type set forth in Exhibit E.

"Dissemination Agent™ means any person, reasonably acceptable to VRA, whom the
Local Government contracts in writing to perform its obligations as provided in subsection (j) of
this Section.

"Financial Obligation™ means a (i) debt obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered
into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned
debt obligation; or (iii) a guarantee of (i) or (ii). The term Financial Obligation does not include
municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been otherwise provided to the
MSRB under the Rule.

""Make Public™ or ""Made Public' has the meaning set forth in subsection (c) of this
Section.

"Material Local Government™ means the Local Government if the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the Local Bond and any other of the Local Government's local
bonds purchased with proceeds of the VRA Bonds represent 15% or more of the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of the local bonds and leases purchased with proceeds of the VRA
Bonds.

"Rule™ means Rule 15c2-12, as it may be amended from time to time, under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and any similar rules of the SEC relating to disclosure
requirements in the offering and sale of municipal securities, all as in effect from time to time.

"SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
(b) The Local Government shall Make Public or cause to be Made Public:

1) Within seven months after the end of the Local Government's
Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year in which the Closing Date occurs), Annual
Financial Information for such Fiscal Year as of the end of which the Local Government
constitutes a Material Local Government. Annual Financial Information may be set forth
in the documents Made Public or may be included in a document Made Public by specific
reference to any document available to the public on the internet website of the Municipal
Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB") or filed with the SEC. If the document referred
to is a final official statement, then it must be available from the MSRB.

2 In a timely manner, notice of any failure by the Local Government
to Make Public or cause to be Made Public Annual Financial Information pursuant to the
terms of part (1) of this subsection.

-29-



(© For purposes of this Section, information and notices shall be deemed to
have been "Made Public"” if transmitted to VRA, to the Trustee and to the MSRB in an electronic
format as prescribed by the MSRB.

(d) The Local Government shall also notify VRA of the occurrence of any of
the following events that may from time to time occur with respect to the Local Bond, such
notice to be given in a timely manner not in excess of five Business Days after the occurrence of
the event:

1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;
2) non-payment related defaults;

3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;

4) unscheduled draws on any credit enhancement maintained with
respect to the Local Bond reflecting financial difficulties;

(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to
perform;

(6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service
of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form
5701 — TEB) or other notices or determinations with respect to the Local Bond that could
affect the tax status of the Related Series of VRA Bonds, or other events with respect to
the Local Bond that could affect the tax status of the Related Series of VRA Bonds;

(7) modifications to rights of holders;
(8) bond calls and tender offers;
9) defeasances;

(10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the
Local Bond;

(11) rating changes;

(12)  bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Local
Government;

(13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition
involving the Local Government or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Local Government, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a
definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive
agreement relating to any such action, other than pursuant to its terms;

-30-



(14) appointment of a successor or additional trustee for the Local
Bond, if any, or the change of name of a trustee;

(15) the failure of the Local Government on or before the date required
by this Agreement to provide Annual Financial Information to the persons and in the
manner required by this Agreement;

(16) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Local Government, if
material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other
similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Local Government, any of which affect
security holders, if material; and

(17) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of
terms, or other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Local
Government, any of which reflect financial difficulties.

(e Additionally, upon request of VRA, the Local Government shall certify in
writing that it has made all filings and disclosures required under this Section or any similar
undertaking pursuant to the Rule.

()] Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Local
Government need not comply with the provisions of subsections (a) through (d) above unless and
until VRA has notified the Local Government that it satisfied the objective criteria for a Material
Local Government as of the end of VRA's immediately preceding fiscal year.

(9) 1) If the Local Government fails to comply with any covenant or
obligation set forth in this Section, any holder (within the meaning of the Rule) of VRA Bonds
then Outstanding may, by notice to the Local Government, proceed to protect and enforce its
rights and the rights of the other holders by an action for specific performance of the Local
Government's covenants or obligations set forth in this Section.

2) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any failure of the
Local Government to comply with any disclosure obligation specified in this Agreement
(i) shall not be deemed to constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement and (ii)
shall not give rise to any right or remedy other than that described in part (1) of this
subsection.

(h) The Local Government may from time to time disclose certain information
and data in addition to that required under this Section. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, the Local Government shall not incur any obligation to continue to
provide, or to update, such additional information or data.

0] The Local Government may, from time to time, appoint or engage a
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligation to cause to be Made Public the
information described in this Section and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or
without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. It is not necessary for purposes of this

-31-



Article that the Dissemination Agent have any agency relationship with the Local Government
for purposes of state law.

() All documents Made Public under this Section shall be accompanied by
identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.

Section 9.8 Other Indebtedness. The Local Government shall pay when due all
amounts required by any other indebtedness of the Local Government and perform all of its
obligations in connection with all other indebtedness of the Local Government.

Section 9.9  Additional Indebtedness. The Local Government shall not incur any
indebtedness or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by a pledge of
Revenues without VRA's prior written consent.

Section 9.10 L.itigation; Material Change. The Local Government shall promptly
notify VRA of (i) the existence and status of any litigation that general counsel to the Local
Government determines is not reasonably certain to have a favorable outcome and which
individually or in the aggregate could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or
operations of the System or the Local Government's ability to perform its payment and other
obligations under this Agreement or the Local Bond or (ii) any change in any material fact or
circumstance represented or warranted in this Agreement.

ARTICLE X
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 10.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events is an "Event of Default":

@ The failure to pay any installment of principal of or premium, if any, on
the Local Bond when due (whether at maturity, by mandatory or optional redemption, by
acceleration or otherwise).

(b) The failure to pay any installment of interest (including Supplemental
Interest) on the Local Bond when due.

(© The failure to make any other payment or deposit required by this
Agreement within 15 days after its due date.

(d) The Local Government's failure to perform or observe any of the other
covenants, agreements or conditions of the Local Bond or this Agreement and the continuation
of such failure for a period of 60 days after written notice specifying such failure and requesting
that it be cured is given to the Local Government by VRA, or, in the case of any such failure
which cannot with diligence be cured within such 60-day period, the Local Government's failure
to proceed promptly to commence to cure the failure and thereafter to prosecute the curing of the
failure with diligence.

(e) Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of the
Local Government contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance

-32-



with or in reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local
Bond is false and misleading in any material respect.

()] Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted
by or against the Local Government under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law and,
if instituted against the Local Government, is not dismissed within 60 days after filing.

(9) Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Local Government's consent
or acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Local Government and
its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting such creditors' claims under any federal or state
statute now or hereafter enacted, if such claims are under any circumstances payable from the
Revenues.

(h)  An order or decree shall be entered, with the Local Government's consent
or acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part of it or of the
Revenues, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Local Government's
consent or acquiescence, shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days
after its entry.

Q) The occurrence of a default by the Local Government under the terms of
any debt secured by a pledge of Revenues and the failure to cure such default or obtain a waiver
thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder.

Section 10.2 Acceleration. Upon the occurrence and continuation of an Event of
Default, VRA may, by notice in writing delivered to the Local Government, declare the entire
unpaid principal of and interest on the Local Bond due and payable. Upon any such declaration,
the Local Government shall immediately pay to the Trustee the entire unpaid principal of and
accrued interest on the Local Bond, but only from the Revenues and other funds specifically
pledged hereby. VRA may in its discretion waive an Event of Default and its consequences and
rescind any acceleration of maturity of principal of and interest on the Local Bond.

Section 10.3 Other Remedies. Upon the occurrence and continuation of an Event of
Default, VRA may proceed to protect and enforce its rights by mandamus or other action, suit or
proceeding at law or in equity for specific performance of any agreement contained in the Local
Bond or this Agreement. No remedy conferred by this Agreement upon or reserved to the
registered owners of the Local Bond is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each
such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other legally available remedy
given to VRA under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

Section 10.4 Delay and Waiver. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power
accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be
construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default or acquiescence in it, and every
such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed
expedient. No waiver of any default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or
shall affect any subsequent default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies
consequent to it.

-33-



ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1 State Aid Intercept. The Local Government acknowledges that VRA has
covenanted under the Master Indenture to take any and all actions available to it under the laws
of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including the invocation of the "state-aid intercept"”
provisions of Section 62.1-216.1 of the Act, to obtain any payment of the principal of and
premium, if any, and interest on the Local Bond either Fluvanna County or Louisa County fails
to make in accordance with the Support Agreements.

Section 11.2 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to
the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 11.3 Amendments. VRA and the Local Government shall have the right to
amend from time to time any of this Agreement's terms and conditions, provided that all
amendments shall be in writing and shall be signed by or on behalf of VRA and the Local
Government.

Section 11.4 Limitation of Local Government's Liability. Notwithstanding anything
in the Local Bond or this Agreement to the contrary, the Local Government's obligations
hereunder and under the Local Bond are not its general obligations, but are limited obligations
payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically pledged for such purpose. Neither the
Local Bond nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create or constitute a debt or a pledge of the
faith and credit of the Local Government and the Local Government shall not be obligated to pay
the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Local Bond or other costs incident to them
except from the Revenues and other funds pledged for such purpose. In the absence of fraud or
intentional misconduct, no present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the
Local Government shall be liable personally to VRA in respect of this Agreement or the Local
Bond or for any other action taken by such individual pursuant to or in connection with the
financing provided for in this Agreement or the Local Bond.

Section 11.5 Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by Virginia law.

Section 11.6 Severability. If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall
be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or
section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced as
if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.
If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then
such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of VRA and the
Local Government, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law.

Section 11.7 Notices. Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices,
approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bond or this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person
or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (a) if to the Local
Government, at the address specified for notices on the signature page; (b) if to VRA, at 1111

-34-



East Main Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia 23219, Attention: Executive Director; or (c) if
to the Trustee, at Three James Center, 1051 E. Cary Street, Suite 600, Richmond, Virginia
23219, Attention: Corporate Trust Department. A duplicate copy of each demand, notice,
approval, consent, request, opinion or other communication given by any party named in this
Section shall also be given to each of the other parties named. VRA, the Local Government and
the Trustee may designate, by notice given hereunder, any further or different addresses to which
subsequent demands, notices, approvals, consents, requests, opinions or other communications
shall be sent or persons to whose attention the same shall be directed.

Section 11.8 Right to Cure Default. If the Local Government fails to make any
payment or to perform any act required by it under the Local Bond or this Agreement, VRA or
the Trustee, without prior notice to or demand upon the Local Government and without waiving
or releasing any obligation or default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such
payment or perform such act. All amounts so paid by VRA or the Trustee and all costs, fees and
expenses so incurred shall be payable by the Local Government as an additional obligation under
this Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rate of 15% per year until paid. The Local
Government's obligation under this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bond.

Section 11.9 Term of Agreement. This Agreement is effective as of the Effective
Date. Except as otherwise specified, the Local Government's obligations under the Local Bond
and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bond and all other amounts
payable by the Local Government under this Agreement.

Section 11.10 Assurance Regarding Tax Status. The Local Government agrees that
VRA's process of determining its "reasonable assurance™ that a particular action may have no
adverse effect on the tax status of the Related Series of VRA Bonds may include obtaining an
approving opinion of nationally-recognized bond counsel.

Section 11.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one
and the same instrument.

[Signature Pages Follow]

-35-



WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY

By:

Shawn B. Crumlish, Executive Director

[Signature Page of Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement — JRWA - VRA]



JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

By:

Name:

Title:

Address for Notices:

Attention:

[Signature Page of Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement — JRWA - JRWA]



The Trustee, by the execution hereof, accepts the duties imposed on it by this Agreement.

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By:

Monique L. Green, Vice President

[Signature Page of Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement — JRWA - Trustee]



EXHIBIT A
FORM OF LOCAL BOND

R-1 $

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY
REVENUE BOND
SERIES 2024

The JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY, a public body politic and corporate and a
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "Authority™), for value received,
acknowledges itself indebted and promises to pay, solely from the sources described below, to
the Virginia Resources Authority ("VRA™), as the registered owner hereof, or registered assigns
or legal representatives, a principal sum equal to $ , subject to prior redemption as
hereinafter provided.

Principal of this Bond is payable in installments (the "Installments™) on each October 1,
beginning October 1, 20 . Each Installment shall be in the applicable amount specified in
Schedule 1 attached hereto. If not sooner paid, the entire remaining principal balance hereof
shall be due and payable on October 1, 20 .

Interest on the unpaid principal hereof shall be payable on each April 1 and October 1,
beginning October 1, 2024. The per annum rate of interest payable with respect to the portion of
the principal amount hereof which is payable as a particular Installment shall be the applicable
rate specified in Schedule 1 attached hereto. Interest hereon shall accrue from the date hereof
and shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days consisting of twelve 30-day months.

All payments of principal of, premium (if any) and interest on this Bond shall be paid
directly to U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee for VRA (the "VRA
Trustee"), for as long as VRA is the registered owner hereof. If any payment of principal or
premium (if any) or interest on this Bond is scheduled to be made on a date which is not a
business day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding business day. If such payment
is made on such next succeeding business day, no additional interest shall accrue for the period
after the date on which such payment is scheduled to be made.

Principal of and premium (if any) and interest on this Bond are payable in lawful money
of the United States of America.

A-1



If any installment of principal of, premium (if any) or interest on this Bond is not paid
within five days after its due date, the Authority shall pay to the registered owner hereof a late
payment charge in an amount equal to 5.0% of the amount of the overdue installment.

If any failure of the Authority to pay all or any portion of any required payment of the
principal of, premium (if any) or interest on this Bond results in a withdrawal from or a drawing
on any VRA Reserve (as defined in the hereinafter defined Financing Agreement), the interest
rates applicable to this Bond shall be increased to interest rates sufficient to reimburse the VRA
Reserve for any forgone investment earnings on the funds withdrawn therefrom or pay any
interest, fees or penalties assessed as a result of the withdrawal from or drawing on the VRA
Reserve. The increment of interest payable pursuant to the increase in rates shall be referred to
as "Supplemental Interest.” The term “interest” as used in this bond shall include Supplemental
Interest, when and if payable. The Authority's obligation to pay Supplemental Interest shall
commence on the date of the withdrawal or drawing of funds from the VRA Reserve occasioned
by the Authority's failure to pay a required payment or portion thereof as described above (the
"Supplemental Interest Commencement Date™). The Authority's obligation to pay Supplemental
Interest shall terminate on the date on which the Authority makes all payments required but
outstanding since the date of the initial failure to pay (the "Supplemental Interest Termination
Date"). From the Supplemental Interest Commencement Date to the Supplemental Interest
Termination Date, Supplemental Interest shall be due and payable on the regularly scheduled
interest payment dates provided for in this Bond. As soon as reasonably possible after the
Supplemental Interest Commencement Date and before the next regularly scheduled interest
payment date provided for in this bond, VRA shall deliver to the Authority a certificate as to the
increase in interest rates and the amount of Supplemental Interest. The certificate shall set forth
in reasonable detail the basis for the increase in interest rates and the manner of calculation of the
increase and the amount of Supplemental Interest. Such certificate shall be conclusive (absent
manifest error) as to the interest rate increase and amount of Supplemental Interest set forth
therein. In determining the interest rate increase and the amount of Supplemental Interest, VRA
may use any reasonable averaging and attribution methods.

The Authority's obligations to pay the amounts described in this Bond shall not be
discharged in whole or in part by any amount withdrawn from or drawn on a VRA Reserve.

Subject to the Authority's right to apply Revenues (as defined in the Financing
Agreement) to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses (as defined in the Financing
Agreement) and the Authority's obligation to apply Revenues to the payment of prior bonds, if
any, secured by Revenues, the Revenues are irrevocably pledged to secure the payment of the
principal of, premium (if any) and interest on this Bond as the same shall become due. The
Authority has covenanted in the Financing Agreement that it will fix and collect rates, fees and
other charges for the use of, and for services furnished by, the Project (as hereinafter defined) in
accordance with the provisions of the Financing Agreement. This Bond is a limited obligation of
the Authority payable solely as described in the first sentence of this paragraph. The principal
of, premium, if any, and interest on this Bond will not be deemed to constitute a general
obligation debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any of its
political subdivisions, including the Authority and the Member Jurisdictions (as hereinafter
defined). NEITHER THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA NOR ANY OF ITS
POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS, INCLUDING THE AUTHORITY AND THE MEMBER

A-2



JURISDICTIONS, IS DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OR CONTINGENTLY OBLIGATED
TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON THIS BOND OR
OTHER COSTS INCIDENT THERETO OR TO LEVY ANY TAXES THEREFOR OR TO
MAKE ANY APPROPRIATION FOR THEIR PAYMENT EXCEPT FROM THE FUNDS OF
THE AUTHORITY PLEDGED FOR SUCH PURPOSE. NEITHER THE FAITH AND
CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA OR
ANY OF ITS POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS, INCLUDING THE AUTHORITY AND THE
MEMBER JURISDICTIONS, IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF,
PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON THIS BOND OR OTHER COSTS INCIDENT
HERETO. THIS BOND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS WITHIN THE
MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR
RESTRICTION. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER.

This Bond is authorized and issued pursuant to (i) the Virginia Water and Waste
Authorities Act, as amended (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended), and
(i) a resolution adopted by the Authority on March 13, 2024, for the purpose of financing the
design and construction of a raw water intake, a pump station, an electrical and control building
and a raw water pipeline (collectively, the "Project™) owned and operated by the Authority to
service the water needs of the County of Fluvanna, Virginia and the County of Louisa, Virginia
(collectively, the "Member Jurisdictions™). It is also issued pursuant to the terms of a Local
Bond Sale and Financing Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2024 (the "Financing Agreement"),
between the Authority and VRA to evidence a loan by the VRA to the Authority to finance the
costs of the Project and pay the costs of issuing the Local Bond and any other financing costs
including the funding of any required reserves. The obligations of the Authority under this Bond
shall terminate when all amounts due and to become due pursuant to this Bond and the Financing
Agreement have been paid in full.

This Bond is subject to defeasance, redemption, repayment and refunding to the extent
and on the terms set forth in the Financing Agreement.

If an Event of Default (as defined in the Financing Agreement) occurs, the principal of
this Bond may be declared immediately due and payable by the registered owner by written
notice to the Authority.

Notwithstanding anything in this Bond to the contrary, in addition to the payments of the
principal and interest provided for by this Bond, the Authority shall also pay, but solely from the
Revenues, such additional amounts, if any, which may be necessary to provide for payment in
full of all amounts due under the Financing Agreement. The Financing Agreement may be
amended as provided therein.

No covenant, condition, agreement or obligation contained herein shall be deemed to be a
covenant, condition, agreement or obligation of any officer, employee or agent of the Authority in
his or her individual capacity, and no officer of the Authority executing this Bond shall be liable
personally on this Bond or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the
issuance hereof.

A-3



The [Director of Finance of the fiscal agent of the Authority] shall act as Registrar (the
"Registrar”) until a different Registrar is selected and shall maintain registration books for the
registration and the registration of transfer of this Bond. Payments of principal and interest shall
be made by check or draft mailed or by wire to the registered owner, at its address as it appears
on the registration books kept for that purpose at the principal office of the Registrar, except that
payments hereunder shall be made directly to the VRA Trustee for as long as VRA is the
registered owner hereof. The final payment of principal shall be payable upon presentation and
surrender of this Bond to the Registrar. The transfer of this Bond may be registered only on the
books kept for the registration and registration of transfer of this Bond upon surrender thereof to
the Registrar at his or her address together with an assignment duly executed by the registered
owner in person or by his duly authorized attorney or legal representative in such form as shall
be satisfactory to the Registrar. Upon any such transfer, the Authority shall execute and deliver,
in exchange for this Bond, a new registered Bond registered in the name of the transferee. Prior
to due presentment for registration of transfer, the Registrar shall treat the registered owner as the
person exclusively entitled to payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this Bond
and to the exercise of all other rights and powers of the owner.

If this Bond has been mutilated, lost or destroyed, the Authority shall execute and deliver
a new Bond of like date and tenor in exchange or substitution for, and upon cancellation of, such
mutilated Bond or in lieu of and in substitution for such lost or destroyed Bond; provided, that
the Authority shall execute and deliver such Bond only if the registered owner has paid the
reasonable expenses and charges of the Authority and the Registrar in connection therewith and,
in the case of a mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Registrar,
and in the case of a lost or destroyed Bond, the registered owner has furnished to the Authority
and the Registrar (if different from the Authority or its officials) (a) evidence satisfactory to them
that such Bond was lost or destroyed and the registered owner was the owner thereof and
(b) indemnity satisfactory to them.

Any failure or delay by the registered owner to exercise any right hereunder or under the
Financing Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of the right to exercise the same or any
other rights at any time.

This Bond shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia. Whenever possible, each provision of this Bond shall be interpreted
in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this
Bond shall be prohibited by or invalid under such law, such provisions shall be ineffective to the
extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or
the remaining provisions of this Bond. This Bond shall apply to and bind the Authority's
successors and assigns to the extent provided herein and shall inure to the benefit of the
registered owner, its successors and assigns.

All acts, conditions and things required to happen, exist or be performed precedent to and
in the issuance of this Bond have happened, exist and have been performed.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

A-4



A-5



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the James River Water Authority has caused this Bond to be
signed by the manual signature of its Chairman or Vice Chairman, its seal to be impressed
hereon and attested by its Secretary or Assistant Secretary and this Bond to be dated the 15th day
of April, 2024.

JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

By

Chairman

(SEAL)

ATTEST:

Secretary, James River Water Authority

A-6



CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Bond is one of the bonds of the series designated herein and described in the within

mentioned resolution.

Date of authentication: April 15, 2024

[Director of Finance,
County of Fluvanna, Virginia, as Bond
Registrar]

By

Authorized Signature

A-7



ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto

(please print or typewrite Name and Address including postal zip code of Transferee)

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF TRANSFEREE

the within Bond and all rights thereunder, hereby irrevocably constituting and appointing
, Attorney, to
transfer said Bond on the books kept for the registration thereof, with full power of substitution
in the premises.

Dated:

Signature Guaranteed

(NOTICE: Signature(s) must Registered Owner (Notice: The signature
be guaranteed by an Eligible above must correspond with the name of the
Guarantor Institution such as a Registered Owner as it appears on the books
Commercial Bank, Trust kept for registration of the Bond in every
Company, Securities Broker/ Dealer, particular, without alteration or change.)

Credit Union or Savings Association
which is a member of a medallion
program approved by The Securities
Association, Inc.)

A-8



SCHEDULE 1

A-9



EXHIBIT B

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT
The construction of a water intake facility on the James River near the Town of
Columbia, a pump station, an electrical and control building and a raw water pipeline, together

with related costs of issuance and capitalized interest on the Local Bond through April 1, 2025,
and the funding of the Local Debt Service Reserve Fund on the Local Bond.

B-1



EXHIBIT C
PENDING OR THREATENED ACTIONS, SUITS, PROCEEDINGS, OR
INVESTIGATIONS

[None.]

C-1



EXHIBITD
FORM OF REQUISITION
Requisition No.
Date:

U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee
Attention: Corporate Trust Department

Three James Center

1051 E. Cary Street

Suite 600

Richmond, Virginia 23219

Virginia Resources Authority
1111 East Main Street

Suite 1920

Richmond, Virginia 23219
Attention: Executive Director

This Requisition, including Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 hereto, is submitted in connection
with the Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated as of March 15, 2024 (the "Financing
Agreement") between the Virginia Resources Authority and the James River Water Authority
(the "Local Government™). Unless otherwise defined in this Requisition, each capitalized term
used herein has the meaning given it under Article | of the Financing Agreement. The
undersigned Local Representative hereby requests payment of the following amounts from the
Local Account established for the Local Government in the 2024A Acquisition Fund established
under the Fifty-Seventh Supplemental Series Indenture.

Payee (include wiring instructions if receiving electronic payment):

Address:

Amount to be Paid:

Purpose (in reasonable detail) for which obligations(s) to be paid were incurred:

D-1



Attached on Schedule 2 are the wire instructions for this requisition, and also attached
hereto is an invoice (or invoices) relating to the items for which payment is requested.

The undersigned certifies that (i) the amounts requested by this Requisition will be
applied in accordance with the Local Tax Document and solely and exclusively to the payment,
or the reimbursement of the Local Government for its payment, of Project Costs of the
construction portion of the Project, (ii) no notice of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or
claim affecting the right to receive payment of, any of the money payable under this Requisition
to any of the persons, firms or corporations named in it has been received, or if any notice of any
such lien, attachment or claim has been received, such lien, attachment or claim has been
released or discharged or will be released or discharged upon payment of the Requisition, and
(iii) this Requisition contains no items representing payment on account of any retained
percentage entitled to be retained at this date.

If this Requisition includes payments for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen,
the attached Certificate of Consulting Engineer (Payments for Labor/Contractors) must be
completed. If this Requisition includes payments for any lands or easements, or any rights or
interest in or relating to lands, the attached Certificate of the Consulting Engineer (Land
Interests) must be completed.

The Local Government has agreed in the Financing Agreement that any amounts it
receives pursuant to this Requisition will be (i) immediately applied to reimburse the Local
Government for Project Costs it has already paid or (ii) actually spent to pay Project Costs
not later than five banking days after receipt.

Local Representative

D-2



SCHEDULE 1

Form to Accompany Requisition

Requisition #
Recipient: James River Water Authority — VRA 2024A
Local Representative:
Title:
Date:
Cost Total Previous Disbursement | Disbursements | Remaining
Category Project Cost | Disbursements | This Period to Date Balance
$ $ $ $ $
TOTALS | $ $ $ $ $

D-3




SCHEDULE 2

Wire Instructions for Requisition

[To be provided by the Local Government]

D-4



CERTIFICATE OF CONSULTING ENGINEER (PAYMENTS FOR
LABOR/CONTRACTORS)

The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Local Government hereby certifies that
insofar as the amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors,
builders or materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or
equipment were actually furnished or installed in or about the Project.

Date:

Consulting Engineer

D-5



CERTIFICATE OF CONSULTING ENGINEER (LAND INTERESTS)

The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Local Government hereby certifies that and insofar
as the amounts covered by the Requisition include payments for land or easements, rights or
interests in or relating to lands, such lands, easements, rights or interests are being acquired and
are necessary or convenient for the construction of the Project.

Date:

Consulting Engineer

D-6



D-1



EXHIBIT E
OPERATING DATA

Description of Local Government. A description of the Local Government including a
summary description of the System.

Debt. A description of the terms of the Local Government's outstanding debt including a
historical summary of outstanding debt and a summary of annual debt service on outstanding
debt as of the end of the preceding fiscal year. The annual disclosure should also include (to the
extent not shown in the latest audited financial statements) a description of contingent
obligations as well as pension plans administered by the Local Government and any unfunded
pension liabilities.

Financial Information and Operating Data. Financial information for the System as of
the end of the preceding fiscal year, including a description of revenues and expenditures, largest
users, a summary of rates, fees and other charges of the System, and a historical summary of debt
service coverage.

E-1



EXHIBIT F
FORM OF OPINION OF COUNSEL TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT

[Print on the Letterhead of Counsel for the Local Government]
May 15, 2024

James River Water Authority
Palmyra, Virginia

Virginia Resources Authority
Richmond, Virginia

$
James River Water Authority
Revenue Bond
Series 2024

Ladies and Gentlemen:

| have acted as counsel to the James River Water Authority, Virginia (the "Local
Government™), in connection with the issuance and sale by the Local Government of its
$ Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (the "Local Bond"), the net proceeds of which will be
applied to finance the Project (as defined in the hereafter defined Financing Agreement) and in
such capacity, | have examined, among other things, the following documents:

@ a certified copy of the Local Authorization (as defined in the Financing
Agreement), authorizing the issuance and sale of the Bond to Virginia Resources
Authority ("VRA") to finance the Project;

(b) a copy of the Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement (the "Financing
Agreement") dated as of March 15, 2024, and between the Local Government and
the Virginia Resources Authority ("VRA"); and

(© a copy of the Local Tax Document (as defined in the Financing Agreement) and
the Support Agreements, the Interjurisdictional Agreement and the Service
Agreement (as defined in the Financing Agreement)].

The documents referred to in clauses (b) and (c) above are referred to collectively as the
"Local Bond Documents."

| have also examined such other records and proceedings of the Local Government and
conducted such investigations as | deemed appropriate and necessary for purposes of this
opinion.

F-1



Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this opinion has the same
meaning given to such term in the Financing Agreement.

As to questions of fact material to the opinions and statements set forth herein, | have
relied upon representations of the Local Government set forth in the Local Bond Documents and
other certificates and representations by persons including representatives of the Local
Government. Whenever an opinion or statement set forth herein with respect to the existence or
absence of facts is qualified by the phrase "to the best of my knowledge" or a phrase of similar
import, it is intended to indicate that during the course of my representation of the Local
Government in connection with the Local Bond Documents no information has come to my
attention that should give me current actual knowledge of the existence or absence of such facts.
Except to the extent expressly set forth herein, 1 have not undertaken any independent
investigation of the existence or absence of such facts, and no inference as to my knowledge or
the existence or absence of such facts should be drawn from the fact of my representation or any
other matter.

Based upon such examination and assuming the authorization, execution, delivery and
enforceability of all documents by parties other than the Local Government, | am of the opinion
that:

1. The Local Government is a duly created and validly existing public body politic
and corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with
the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law.

2. The Local Government has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local
Authorization and execute and deliver the Local Bond Documents and all related documents,
(i) undertake the Project and (iii) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated
by the Local Authorization and the Local Bond Documents, including owning and operating the
System.

3. The Local Bond Documents were duly authorized by the Local Authorization and
the Financing Agreement is in substantially the same form as presented to the Governing Body at
its meeting at which the Local Authorization was adopted.

4. All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and
approvals required to have been obtained as of the date hereof have been obtained for (i) the
Local Government's adoption of the Local Authorization, (ii) the execution and delivery of the
Local Bond Documents and the Local Bond, (iii) the Local Government's performance of its
obligations under the Local Bond Documents and the Local Bond, and (iv) to the best of my
knowledge, the operation and use of the System. | know of no reason why any such required
governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations or approvals cannot be
obtained as required in the future.

5. The Financing Agreement has been executed and delivered by duly authorized
officials of the Local Government and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Local Government enforceable against the Local Government in accordance with its terms. The

F-2



Local Bond has been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Local
Government and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the Local
Government enforceable against the Local Government in accordance with its terms. The
obligations of the Local Government under the Financing Agreement and the Local Bond, and
the enforceability of such obligations, may be limited or otherwise affected by (a) bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting the rights of creditors generally,
(b) principles of equity, whether considered at law or in equity, (c) the exercise of sovereign
police powers of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and (d) rules of law which may limit the
enforceability on public policy grounds of any obligations of indemnification undertaken by the
Local Government.

6. The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of the Local Bond
Documents and the performance by the Local Government of its obligations thereunder are
within the powers of the Local Government and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or
result in a violation of, (i) any federal or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, (ii) to the
best of my knowledge, any agreement or other instrument to which the Local Government is a
party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree or ordinance of any court,
government or governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Local Government or its

property.

7. The Local Government, to the best of my knowledge, is not in default in the
payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not
in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed
money has been incurred. To the best of my knowledge, no event or condition has happened or
existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any such instrument, including but
not limited to the Financing Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of
time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder.

8. The Local Government (i) to the best of my knowledge, is not in violation of any
existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse
effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under the Local Bond or
the Local Bond Documents and (ii) is not in default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust,
lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other agreement, instrument or restriction of
any kind to which the Local Government is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its
assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its
ability to perform its obligations under the Local Bond and the Local Bond Documents. The
execution and delivery by the Local Government of the Local Bond and the Local Bond
Documents and the compliance with the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict with or
result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the foregoing.

9. Except as described in Exhibit C of the Financing Agreement, nor, to the best of
my knowledge, are there pending or threatened against the Local Government, any actions, suits,
proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative
nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization or existence of the Local Government or the title
of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval,
execution, delivery or performance of the Local Authorization or the Local Bond Documents or

F-3



the issuance or delivery of the Local Bond, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or
enforceability of the Local Bond, the Local Authorization, the Local Bond Documents or any
agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or
resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Local Government or its business, assets,
condition (financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its
obligations under the Local Authorization, the Local Bond Documents or the Local Bond, or (V)
affecting the undertaking of the Project.

Very truly yours,

F-4



EXHIBIT G

FORM OF CERTIFICATION AS TO NO DEFAULT AND TAX COMPLIANCE

[DATE]

[Insert Name]

Compliance & Financial Analyst
Virginia Resources Authority
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920
Richmond, VA 23219

Dear [Mr./Ms.] ;

In accordance with Section 9.4 of the Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated as

of March 15, 2024 (the "Financing Agreement") between Virginia Resources Authority and the
James River Water Authority a (the "Local Government™), | hereby certify that, during the fiscal
year that ended June 30, , and through the date of this letter:

1.

[No event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, which
constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute, an Event of
Default as defined in Section 10.1 of the Financing Agreement.] [If an Event of Default
has occurred, please specify the nature and period of such Event of Default and what
action the Local Government has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it].

[The ownership and status of all or a portion of the Related Financed Property has not
changed since the Closing Date.] [If untrue, please describe.]

[Neither the Related Financed Property nor any portion thereof is being used by a
Nongovernmental Person pursuant to a lease, an incentive payment contract or a take-or-
pay or other output-type contract.] [If untrue, please describe.]

[Neither the Related Financed Property nor any portion or function thereof is being used
pursuant to or is otherwise subject to a Service Contract that does not satisfy the
requirements of Revenue Procedure 2017-13.] [If untrue, please describe.]

[Other than as may be described in paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 above, neither the Related
Financed Property nor any portion or function thereof nor any portion of the Proceeds is
being used for a Private Business Use.] [If untrue, please describe.]

G-1



10.

[The Local Government has not used or permitted the use of any Proceeds of the Local
Bond directly or indirectly to make a loan to an ultimate borrower other than itself within
the meaning of Section 4.3 of the Local Tax Document.] [If untrue, please describe.]

[Other than any amounts described in the Local Tax Document (as defined in the
Financing Agreement), between VRA and the Local Government and amounts that may
constitute or be on deposit in a Bona Fide Debt Service Fund, there neither have been nor
are now any moneys, securities, obligations, annuity contracts, residential rental property,
AMT Bonds, investment-type property, Sinking Funds, Pledged Funds, or other
Replacement Proceeds accumulated or held or pledged as security by the Local
Government or any other Substantial Beneficiary of the Local Bond as security for or the
direct or indirect source of the payment of the principal of or interest on the Local Bond.]
[If untrue, please describe.]

[The Local Government is in compliance with the recordkeeping requirements of Section
4.9 of the Local Tax Document.] [If untrue, please describe.]

[Other than as may be described above, the Local Government is not in default of any of
its obligations under the Local Tax Document.] [If untrue, please describe.]

Unless otherwise defined herein, each capitalized term used herein has the meaning set
forth in the Local Tax Document.

Sincerely,

[Insert Name]
Local Representative

G-2



EXHIBIT H

DESCRIPTION OF SPECIAL USE ARRANGEMENTS

None.



EXHIBIT I

FORM OF ANNUAL BUDGET

[DATE]

Compliance and Financial Analyst
Virginia Resources Authority
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920
Richmond, VA 23219

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement between Virginia Resources
Authority and the James River Water Authority, dated as of March 15, 2024, a copy of the fiscal
year [20xx] annual budget is enclosed. Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the
rate covenant as demonstrated below.

Net Revenues Available *Coverage
Operation & Maintenance for Debt Service (Net Revenues Available for
Revenues Expenses (Revenues — O&M Expenses) Debt Service Debt Service/Debt Service)

Unless otherwise defined herein, the capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have
the meanings set forth in the Financing Agreement[s].

Very truly yours,

By:

Its:




EXHIBIT J

EXISTING PARITY BONDS

Existing Parity Bonds in the Water System: Original Face Amount

Revenue Bond, Series 2016 $7,965,000.00



SCHEDULE 1.1

FINAL TERMS

Principal Amount of Related Series of VRA Bonds $
Principal Amount of Local Bond
Purchase Price

Local Debt Service Reserve Requirement

The Purchase Price was determined as follows: by adding to the par amount of the Related
Portion of VRA Bonds ($ ), the [net premium] on the Related Portion of VRA Bonds
% ) and by subtracting from the par amount of the Related Portion of VRA Bonds the
Local Government's share of VRA's Expenses set forth in Section 3.2 ($ ) and the Local
Government's share of the deposit on the Closing Date to the Capital Reserve Fund, which is a

VRA Reserve ($ ).

1.1-1



ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO PURCHASE OF LOCAL BOND:

None.

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO FIRST REQUISITION OF PROCEEDS
OF LOCAL BOND:

None.

1.1-2



PROJECT BUDGET

James River Water Authority
Sources and Uses of Funds

Sources
Par Amount
Net Premium
Total Sources
Uses

Design / Build Construction
Permitting

Legal

Local Debt Service Reserve Fund
Local Costs of Issuance

VRA Costs of Issuance
Underwriter's Discount

Additional Proceeds / Contingency

Total Uses

1.1-3



INTEREST RATES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE FOR LOCAL BOND

1.1-4



INTEREST RATES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE FOR LOCAL BOND
(Continued)

1.1-5



AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT
JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this "Support
Agreement™) is made as of March 15, 2024, among the COUNTY OF LOUISA, VIRGINIA (the
"County"), the JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY (the "Water Authority"), and the VIRGINIA
RESOURCES AUTHORITY ("VRA"), as purchaser of the Local Bonds (as defined below) pursuant to
a Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated as of April 1, 2016, as amended (the 2016 Financing
Agreement™), between VRA and the Water Authority, and a Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement
dated as of March 15, 2024 (the "2024 Financing Agreement" and, together with the 2016 Financing
Agreement, the "Financing Agreements"), between VRA and the Water Authority.

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Water Authority is a public body politic and corporate and a political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "Commonwealth™) exercising public and
essential governmental functions and created by resolutions duly adopted by the Board of
Supervisors of the County (the "Board™) and the Board of Supervisors of the County of Fluvanna,
Virginia in accordance with the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act, as amended (Chapter
51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended), for the purpose of servicing the water needs
of the County and the County of Fluvanna, Virginia (collectively, the "Member Jurisdictions™);

WHEREAS, the Water Authority and the Member Jurisdictions have entered into a
Service Agreement dated as of April 1, 2015, as amended by the Amendment to Service
Agreement, dated as of April ___, 2024 (the "Service Agreement™), which provides for payments
by each Member Jurisdiction to the Water Authority for services to be rendered to the Member
Jurisdictions by the Water Authority, and sets forth certain other responsibilities of the parties;

WHEREAS, the Water Authority has undertaken the design and construction of a raw
water intake, a pump station and a raw water pipeline, as well as the acquisition of land and right-
of-way necessary therefor (as more specifically defined in the Service Agreement, the "Project");

WHEREAS, the Water Authority is authorized to contract debts and to issue, as evidence
thereof, notes, bonds or other obligations payable from revenues from a revenue-producing
undertaking of the Water Authority;

WHEREAS, on May 25, 2016, the Water Authority issued its $7,965,000 Revenue Bond,
Series 2016 (the "2016 Local Bond™), to finance the costs of the Project, and sold the 2016 Local
Bond to the Virginia Resources Authority ("VRA") pursuant to the 2016 Financing Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Water Authority has determined that it is in its best interest to issue and
sell its Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (the "2024 Local Bond" and, together with the 2016 Local
Bond, the "Local Bonds™)), to VRA pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Financing Agreement to
finance or refinance the completion of the Project; and

186265960_3



WHEREAS, as a condition to the purchase by VRA of the 2024 Local Bond, VRA is
requiring each of the Member Jurisdictions to amend and restate the support agreement provided
to VRA in connection with its purchase of the 2016 Local Bond pursuant to and as provided by
this Support Agreement;

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the issuance of the 2024 Local Bond
by the Water Authority, the purchase of the 2024 Local Bond by VRA and of the mutual covenants
herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement
shall have the meaning given it in the Financing Agreements.

2. The Water Authority shall use its best efforts to issue the 2024 Local Bond for the
purpose described in the Recitals above.

3. If at any time the revenues available to the Water Authority shall be insufficient to
pay in a timely fashion any of the debt service payments due on the Local Bonds (the "Debt
Service"), either because (i) the Water Authority has failed to charge the County its allocable
portion of the Debt Service (a "County Debt Service Payment™) as required to make such Debt
Service payment or (ii) the County has failed to make a County Debt Service Payment as provided
under the Service Agreement, the Water Authority shall notify the County and VRA of the amount
of such insufficiency and the County Administrator of the County shall request a supplemental
appropriation from the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment.

4. The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to
paragraph 3 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request at the Board's next
regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification
requirement. Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify VRA as to
whether the County Debt Service Payment so requested was appropriated. If the Board shall fail
to make any such appropriation, the Water Authority shall add the amount of such requested
appropriation to the amounts to be otherwise charged to the County for the Water Authority's next
fiscal year.

5. The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such County
Debt Service Payments as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraph 3 above, to
the fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the
Commonwealth. The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any binding
commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to make
such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards do likewise.

6. The County and the Water Authority acknowledge that (i) the obligations of the
Water Authority to determine, and of the Member Jurisdictions to pay, the charges for the use of
and for services to be furnished by the System pursuant to the Service Agreement are crucial to
the security for the Local Bonds, (ii) VRA would not have purchased the 2016 Local Bond and
will not purchase the 2024 Local Bond without the security and credit enhancement provided by
this Support Agreement, (iii) VRA will be a third party beneficiary of the Service Agreement for

2



so long as the Local Bond remains outstanding and (iv) VRA is treating this Support Agreement
as a "local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-199 of the Virginia Code, which in the
event of a nonpayment hereunder authorizes VRA or the Trustee to file an affidavit with the
Governor that such nonpayment has occurred within the meaning of Section 62.1-216.1 of the
Virginia Code. The County and the Water Authority agree that a "nonpayment” will have occurred
if any of the debt service payments due on the Local Bonds is not timely and completely made due
to the failure of the County to make a County Debt Service Payment. Section 62.1-216.1 provides
that if the Governor is satisfied that a nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will immediately
make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to the County of all funds,
or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth to the County for any and
all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment continues, direct in writing the payment
of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of them as is necessary, to VRA, so as to cure,
or cure insofar as possible, such nonpayment.

7. Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the
County to the Water Authority, VRA or to any other holder of the Local Bonds or to any other
person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or
the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the
Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein.

8. Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to 1 Woolfolk,
Avenue, Louisa, Virginia 23093, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Water Authority,
to c/o Fluvanna County as fiscal agent, 132 Main Street, Palmyra, Virginia 22963, Attention:
Fluvanna County Administrator, and (iii) if to VRA, to 1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920,
Richmond, Virginia 23219, Attention: Executive Director. Any party may designate any other
address for notices or requests by giving notice.

9. It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Support Agreement shall be governed
by the laws of the Commonwealth.

10.  This Support Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bonds
and all other amounts payable by Water Authority under the Financing Agreements have been
paid in full.

11.  This Support Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of

which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same
instrument.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK; SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Support
Agreement to be executed in their respective names as of the date first above written.

COUNTY OF LOUISA, VIRGINIA

By:
County Administrator

JAMES RIVER WATERAUTHORITY

By:
Chairman

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHOIUTY

By:
Executive Director




AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT
JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this "Support
Agreement™) is made as of March 15, 2024, among the COUNTY OF FLUVANNA, VIRGINIA (the
"County"), the JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY (the "Water Authority"), and the VIRGINIA
RESOURCES AUTHORITY ("VRA"), as purchaser of the Local Bonds (as defined below) pursuant to a
Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated as of April 1, 2016, as amended (the "2016 Financing
Agreement"), between VRA and the Water Authority, and a Local Bond Sale and Financing Agreement dated
as of March 15, 2024 (the "2024 Financing Agreement" and, together with the 2016 Financing Agreement, the
"Financing Agreements"), between VRA and the Water Authority.

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Water Authority is a public body politic and corporate and a political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "Commonwealth") exercising public and
essential governmental functions and created by resolutions duly adopted by the Board of
Supervisors of the County (the "Board") and the Board of Supervisors of the County of Louisa,
Virginia in accordance with the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act, as amended (Chapter
51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended), for the purpose of servicing the water needs
of the County and the County of Louisa, Virginia (collectively, the "Member Jurisdictions™);

WHEREAS, the Water Authority and the Member Jurisdictions have entered into a
Service Agreement dated as of April 1, 2015, as amended by the Amendment to Service
Agreement, dated as of April ___, 2024 (the "Service Agreement™), which provides for payments
by each Member Jurisdiction to the Water Authority for services to be rendered to the Member
Jurisdictions by the Water Authority, and sets forth certain other responsibilities of the parties;

WHEREAS, the Water Authority has undertaken the design and construction of a raw
water intake, a pump station and a raw water pipeline, as well as the acquisition of land and right-
of-way necessary therefor (as more specifically defined in the Service Agreement, the "Project”);

WHEREAS, the Water Authority is authorized to contract debts and to issue, as evidence
thereof, notes, bonds or other obligations payable from revenues from a revenue-producing
undertaking of the Water Authority;

WHEREAS, on May 25, 2016, the Water Authority issued its $7,965,000 Revenue Bond,
Series 2016 (the "2016 Local Bond™), to finance the costs of the Project, and sold the 2016 Local
Bond to the Virginia Resources Authority ("VRA") pursuant to the 2016 Financing Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Water Authority has determined that it is in its best interest to issue and
sell its Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (the "2024 Local Bond" and, together with the 2016 Local
Bond, the "Local Bonds")), to VRA pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Financing Agreement to
finance or refinance the completion of the Project; and

186266096_3



WHEREAS, as a condition to the purchase by VRA of the 2024 Local Bond, VRA is
requiring each of the Member Jurisdictions to amend and restate the support agreement provided
to VRA in connection with its purchase of the 2016 Local Bond pursuant to and as provided by
this Support Agreement;

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the issuance of the 2024 Local Bond
by the Water Authority, the purchase of the 2024 Local Bond by VRA and of the mutual covenants
herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement
shall have the meaning given it in the Financing Agreements.

2. The Water Authority shall use its best efforts to issue the 2024 Local Bond for the
purpose described in the Recitals above.

3. If at any time the revenues available to the Water Authority shall be insufficient to
pay in a timely fashion any of the debt service payments due on the Local Bonds (the "Debt
Service"), either because (i) the Water Authority has failed to charge the County its allocable
portion of the Debt Service (a "County Debt Service Payment™) as required to make such Debt
Service payment or (ii) the County has failed to make a County Debt Service Payment as provided
under the Service Agreement, the Water Authority shall notify the County and VRA of the amount
of such insufficiency and the County Administrator of the County shall request a supplemental
appropriation from the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment.

4. The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to
paragraph 3 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request at the Board's next
regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification
requirement. Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify VRA as to
whether the County Debt Service Payment so requested was appropriated. If the Board shall fail
to make any such appropriation, the Water Authority shall add the amount of such requested
appropriation to the amounts to be otherwise charged to the County for the Water Authority's next
fiscal year.

5. The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such County
Debt Service Payments as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraph 3 above, to
the fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the
Commonwealth. The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any binding
commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to make
such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards do likewise.

6. The County and the Water Authority acknowledge that (i) the obligations of the
Water Authority to determine, and of the Member Jurisdictions to pay, the charges for the use of
and for services to be furnished by the System pursuant to the Service Agreement are crucial to
the security for the Local Bonds, (ii) VRA would not have purchased the 2016 Local Bond and
will not purchase the 2024 Local Bond without the security and credit enhancement provided by
this Support Agreement, (iii) VRA will be a third party beneficiary of the Service Agreement for

2



so long as the Local Bond remains outstanding and (iv) VRA is treating this Support Agreement
as a "local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-199 of the Virginia Code, which in the
event of a nonpayment hereunder authorizes VRA or the Trustee to file an affidavit with the
Governor that such nonpayment has occurred within the meaning of Section 62.1-216.1 of the
Virginia Code. The County and the Water Authority agree that a "nonpayment” will have occurred
if any of the debt service payments due on the Local Bonds is not timely and completely made due
to the failure of the County to make a County Debt Service Payment. Section 62.1-216.1 provides
that if the Governor is satisfied that a nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will immediately
make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to the County of all funds,
or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth to the County for any and
all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment continues, direct in writing the payment
of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of them as is necessary, to VRA, so as to cure,
or cure insofar as possible, such nonpayment.

7. Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the
County to the Water Authority, VRA or to any other holder of the Local Bonds or to any other
person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or
the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the
Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein.

8. Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to 132 Main
Street, Palmyra, Virginia 22963, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Water Authority,
to c/o Fluvanna County as fiscal agent, 132 Main Street, Palmyra, Virginia 22963, Attention:
Fluvanna County Administrator, and (iii) if to VRA, to 1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920,
Richmond, Virginia 23219, Attention: Executive Director. Any party may designate any other
address for notices or requests by giving notice.

9. It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Support Agreement shall be governed
by the laws of the Commonwealth.

10.  This Support Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bonds
and all other amounts payable by Water Authority under the Financing Agreements have been
paid in full.

11.  This Support Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of

which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same
instrument.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK; SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Support
Agreement to be executed in their respective names as of the date first above written.

COUNTY OF FLUVANNA, VIRGINIA

By:
County Administrator

JAMES RIVER WATERAUTHORITY

By:
Chairman

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHOIUTY

By:
Executive Director




A B [ | D E F H | ] K | L

, [James River Water Authority - FUND 850
, FY25 BUDGET - Proposed Projected Budgets

ORG CODE | OBJ CODE ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION FY24 ADOPTED FY25BUDGET  [ACCOUNT DETAILS FY26 BUDGET | FY27BUDGET | FY28BUDGET | FY29 BUDGET
4
s | 85000018 | 319990 | SERVICE AGREEMENT - FLUVANNA COUNTY $ 251,066.00 | $ 251,581.50 $ 1,480,880.50 | $ 1,481,183.50 | $ 1,481,405.50 | $ 1,481,746.00
6 | 85000018 | 319991 | SERVICE AGREEMENT - LOUISA COUNTY $ 251,066.00 | $ 251,581.50 $ 1,480,880.50 | $ 1,481,183.50 | $ 1,481,405.50 | $ 1,481,746.00
2 | 85000015 | 319501 [ INTEREST ON CUSTODY ACCOUNT s s - s s s s R
s | 85000018 | 319831 | EXPENDITURE REFUNDS s s - s s s s R
o | 85000018 | 319911 | OTHER s s - s s s s R
10| 85000018 | 340000 | INSURANCE RECOVERY s s - s s s s R
11| 85000019 | 343100 | USE OF FUND BALANCE s s - s s s s R
12 INCOME TOTAL $ 502,132.00 $ 503,163.00 $ 2,961,761.00 $ 2,962,367.00 $ 2,962,811.00 $ 2,963,492.00
|

OPERATING EXPENSES
15| 85000000 | 401100 | FULL-TIME SALARIES & WAGES s - s - |staffing required? (Fluvanna/Louisa) s s s ~ s R
16| 85000000 | 401114 |BOARD COMPENSATION s - ls - s s e s R
17| 85000000 | 401300 | PART-TIME SALARIES & WAGES s - s - s - s e s R
22| 85000000 | 403100 | PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $ 33,500.00 | $ 33,500.00 |Audit ($3,500) & Legal ($30K) $ 3350000 |$  33,500.00 [$  33500.00 |$  33,500.00
»3| 85000000 | 403170 |PERMITS AND FEES s - s - s s e s R
54| 85000000 | 403191 | CONSULTING SERVICES s - s - s - s e s R
55| 85000000 | 403192 | OUTSIDE ANALYTICAL SERVICES s - s - s s e s R
26| 85000000 | 403300 | CONTRACT SERVICES s - ls R s s s s _
57| 85000000 | 403310 |BLDGS EQUIP REP & MAINT s - ls - s s e s R
- | 85000000 | 403320 | MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS s - s - s s e s R
29| 85000000 | 403600 |ADVERTISING $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00
30| 85000000 | 403700  [LAUNDRY AND DRY CLEANING s - s - s s - s s R
31| 85000000 | 405110 |ELECTRICAL SERVICES s - s - s s - s s R
32| 85000000 | 405210 | POSTAL SERVICES $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00
33| 85000000 | 405230 | TELECOMMUNICATIONS s - s - s s - s s R
34| 85000000 | 405304 | PROPERTY INSURANCE 3 - ls - s s - s s R
35| 85000000 | 405305  |VEHICLE INSURANCE $ 200.00 | $ 200.00 [VaCorp Ins $ 200.00 | $ 200.00 | $ 200.00 | $ 200.00
36| 85000000 | 405307 | PUBLIC OFFICIALS LIABILITY $ 750.00 | $ 750.00 [VaCorp Ins $ 750.00 | $ 750.00 | $ 750.00 | $ 750.00
37| 85000000 | 405308 | GENERAL LIABILITY $ 1,200.00 | $ 1,200.00 {VaCorp Ins $ 1,200.00 | $ 1,200.00 | $ 1,200.00 | $ 1,200.00
3g| 85000000 405410 | LEASE/RENT S - s - $ - s - |8 - s -
39| 85000000 | 405510 | MILEAGE ALLOWANCES $ 200.00 | $ 200.00 $ 200.00 | $ 200.00 | $ 200.00 | $ 200.00
40| 85000000 | 405540 | CONVENTION & EDUCATION s - s - s s s s R
41| 85000000 | 405810 |DUES OR ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP $ 175.00 | $ 175.00 $ 175.00 | $ 175.00 | $ 175.00 | $ 175.00
4> | 85000000 | 406001 | OFFICE SUPPLIES $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00
43| 85000000 | 406004 | GENERAL MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES s - s . s s s s R
44| 85000000 | 406006 | CHEMICAL SUPPLIES s - s - s s s s R
45| 85000000 | 406009 | VEHICLE/POWER EQUIP SUPPLIES s - s - s s s s R
46| 85000000 | 406011 | UNIFORM/WEARING APPAREL s - ]s - s s s s R
47| 85000000 | 406016  |FUEL s - ls R s s s s R
48| 85000000 | 403650 |BANK FEES AND CHARGES $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00 | $ 250.00
49| 85000000 | 409111  |DEBT SERVICE - REDEMPTION OF PRINCIPAL $ 170,000.00 | $ 180,000.00 $  880,000.00 | $ 885000.00 [$  890,000.00 | $  895,000.00
50| 85000000 | 409115 | DEBT SERVICE - REDEMPTION OF INTEREST $ 295,107.00 | $ 286,138.00 $ 2,044,736.00 | $ 2,040,342.00 | $ 2,035,786.00 | $ 2,031,467.00

$ $

OPERATING EXPENSE T

502,132.00

503,163.00

$ 2,961,761.00 $ 2,962,367.00 $ 2,962,811.00 $ 2,963,492.00




THE JAMES RIVER WATER AUTHORITY REMOTE PARTICIPATION POLICY

. Remote Participation with Quorum Physically Assembled (Virginia Code §2.2-
3708.3(A)(B)):

1. Authority and Scope

It is the policy of the James River Water Authority (“Authority”) that individual
members of the Authority may participate in a meeting electronically provided certain
conditions are met. The remote participation policy of the Authority shall be as follows:

2. Requirements

Regardless of the reasons why a member is participating in a meeting from a remote
location by electronic communication means, the following conditions must be met for
the member to participate remotely:

a. A quorum of the Authority must be physically assembled at the primary
or central meeting location; and

b. Arrangements have been made for the voice of the remotely participating
member to be heard by all persons at the primary or central meeting location.

3. Process to Request Remote Participation

a. A member of the Authority may participate in a meeting through electronic
communication from a remote location that is not open the public in the event that they are
unable to physically attend a meeting due to:

i. atemporary or permanent disability or other medical condition that prevents
the member’s physical attendance;

ii. afamily member’s medical condition that requires the member to provide
care for such family member, thereby preventing the member’s physical
attendance;

iii. their principal residence location more than 60 miles from the meeting
location; or

iv. a personal matter and identifies with specificity the nature of the personal
matter.

b. On or before the day of the meeting, the requesting member must notify the

Authority Chair (or the Vice-Chair if the requesting member is the Chair) that they are
unable to physically attend a meeting due Section 3(a)(i)-(iv) above.

Page 1 of 2



C. If the requesting member is unable to physically attend the meeting due to
a personal matter, the requesting member must state with specificity the nature of the
personal matter. Remote participation due to a personal matter is limited each calendar
year to two meetings or 25 percent of the meetings held per calendar year rounded up to
the next whole number, whichever is greater. There is no limit to the number of times
that a member may participate remotely for the other authorized purposes listed in
3(a)(i)— (iii) above.

4. Process to approve or disapprove remote participation

a. If the member is allowed to participate remotely due to a temporary or
permanent disability or other medical condition, a family member’s medical condition
that requires the member to provide care to the family member, or because their principal
residence is located more than 60 miles from the meeting location the Authority shall
record in its minutes (1) the Authority’s approval of the member’s remote participation;
and (2) a general description of the remote location from which the member participated.
The remote location need not be open to the public.

b. If the member is allowed to participate remotely due to a personal matter,
such matter shall be cited in the minutes with specificity, as well as how many times the
member has attended remotely due to a personal matter, and a general description of the
remote location from which the member participated. The remote location need not be
open to the public.

C. If a member’s participation from a remote location pursuant to this
subsection is disapproved because such participation would violate this policy, such
disapproval shall be recorded in the minutes with specificity.

5. Closed Session

If the Authority goes into closed session, the member participating remotely shall ensure
that no third party is able to hear or otherwise observe the closed meeting.

6. Strict and Uniform Application
This Policy shall be applied strictly and uniformly, without exception, to the entire

membership, and without regard to the identity of the member requesting remote
participation or the matters that will be considered or voted on at the meeting.

Page 2 of 2



	AG 03.13.24 JRWA
	AQUALA~1
	FCCPAY~1
	GAICON~1
	RCHRIS~2
	RCHRIS~1
	US Bank 2024-02-15
	JRWAAP~1
	AMENDM~1
	JRWA20~1
	JRWA20~3
	JRWA20~2
	JRA444~1
	JRWA FY25 Budget Draft
	REMOTE~1

